

Leadership in Mediation Processes in Domestic, Tribal, Religious, and International Conflict

By Olukunle Dare Adeoye

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Department of Peace Studies program at Selinus University

Faculty of Art & Humanities in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Peace Studies

ABSTRACT

The study purposes to assess the impact of leadership in mediation processes in domestic, tribal, religious and international conflicts. It determines the relevance and impact of leadership on mediation process vis-a-vis disputes and outcomes. The thesis is anchored on the hypothesis that leadership quality is key bedrock of the mediation process. The role of leadership is conspicuously absent in the literature addressing mediation particularly in international mediation. Thus, the study sought to contribute towards efforts to bridge the existing gap. Critical contribution of the study to mediation literature emanates from the specific focus on leadership in mediation processes, specifically its impactful role in relation to factors pertaining to the aspects of influence (strategies, actors, leverage, resources, mediator traits and characteristics) unique contextual issues (social mechanisms, historical dynamics, social and cultural relational underpinnings) goal attainment, possible outcomes (de-escalatory aspects, resolution, settlement). The study applied a thorough analysis of leadership modalities, Instrumental and Coercive, undertaken by multiple actors such as states, organisations, institutions and individuals. Further, it explored diverse scenarios relating to domestic violence, tribal wars, religious conflicts, complex contemporary interstate conflicts in Middle-East, Israel and Palestine, triggered by different conflict drivers. . In-depth analysis was on four main case studies namely Family Violence, Native Americans, The Shia and The Sunni, and The Israeli and Palestinian Conflict. Results of the four conflict scenarios equally emphasize that pertinent to leadership roles in peace-making efforts are the personal characteristics of the chief mediators, multilayered with efforts to coordinate external strategic participation and contribution. In addition, results of case studies revealed that key contributory factors to issues of failures, successes and relevance, impact and challenges relate to factors of the history, nature and causes of the conflict; demographic, cultural and socioeconomic conditions; needs and

interests of the disputant parties; the role of external actors; coordination and cooperation mechanisms and the style and methods of the mediator.

DECLARATION

I declare that "Leadership in Mediation Processes in Domestic, Tribal, Religious and International Conflicts is my personal work and has no prior submission for examination for any degree at any University. All sources used or quoted are duly acknowledged as references.

Olukunle Dare Adeoye

Am

Signed

Date: August 2024

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Immense gratitude is extended to persons who enormously contributed to the completion of the study, though not exhaustive of all the contributions of key individuals.

Clara Adeoye, for her unceasing prayers.

Babafemi Adeoye, for always being there to support and making sure that distance is never an obstacle.

Professor Salvatore Fava, ensured timely and strategic reviews and feedback of the work submitted, with provision of encouragement whenever necessitated by the nature of the work done.

DEDICATION

Agnes Adeoye, for the unrelenting motivation to ensure that I successfully undertook PhD studies, and has personally committed from the onset to provide strict support for the entire duration of the academic undertaking. She has always been supportive and went above and beyond to ensure the research was successful, I dedicate this work to her.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT I
DECLARATION III
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS IV
DEDICATION
Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION8
1.1 Background
1.2 Research problem
1.3 Research questions
1.4 Objectives of the Study21
1.5 Relevance of the Study 22
1.6 Organisation of the Thesis23
Chapter 2: LITERATURE REVIEW24
2. Introduction
2.1 Negotiation theories
2.1.1 Game theory
2.2 Leadership theories
2.2.1 Coercive Leadership
2.2.2 Instrumental Leadership
2.3 Conclusion
Chapter 3: METHODOLOGY 44
3. Introduction
Chapter 4: FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS

47 47
4.1 Conflict
4.2 Conflict resolution
4.3 Mediation practices in Domestic, Tribal, Religious and International Conflicts 49
4.3.1 Case Studies 50
4.3.1.1 Mediation practices in Domestic violence, Tribal wars, Religious conflicts and interstate conflicts including failures and success
4.3.1.2 Relevance of mediation in selected conflict scenarios
4.3.1.3 Impact of leadership styles on mediation of conflict disputes and
outcomes 61
4.3.1.4 Challenges and opportunities of certain leadership styles on mediation 66
4.4 Conclusion
Chapter 5: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS
5. Introduction
5.1 Background 71
5.2 Summary
5.3 Recommendations
5.4 Contributions to Literature
5.5 Limitation of study and Future research77
REFERENCES

Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

The courts of this country should not be the place where resolution of disputes begins. They should be the place where disputes end after alternative methods of resolving disputes have been considered and tried (Justice Sandra Day O'Connor)

Mediation is familiar to most people as a means of resolving labor management and international disputes, but it also has been used to settle contract, interpersonal, human resource, and EEO conflicts. Mediation involves the intervention of a third person, or mediator, into a dispute to assist the parties in negotiating jointly acceptable resolution of issues in conflict. The mediator meets with the parties at a neutral location where the parties can discuss the dispute and explore a variety of solutions. Each party is encouraged to be open and candid about his/her point of view. The mediator, as a neutral third party, can view the dispute objectively and assist the parties in considering alternatives and options that they might not have considered. The mediator is neutral in that he or she does not stand to personally benefit from the terms of the settlement, and is impartial in that he or she does not have a preconceived bias about how the conflict should be resolved.

The mediation session is private and confidential. Matters unique to the mediation discussion have been held by Federal courts to be privileged and inadmissible in any adversarial administrative or court proceeding with the exception of certain issues such as fraud, waste and abuse, or criminal activity. If a settlement was not resolved

during a mediation session, and the dispute was litigated in any administrative or judicial proceeding, neither the mediator nor his/her notes can be subpoenaed by either party https://www.commerce.gov/cr/reports-and-resources/eeo-mediation-guide/what-mediation> June 6, 2024.

Divorce mediation is a voluntary settlement process used frequently and successfully by married couples who want to divorce, and by domestic partners who want to separate. Divorce mediation gives couples the option to plan their futures rationally, and in an atmosphere of cooperation and mutual respect. With the assistance of a trained divorce mediator, you can reach an agreement that is custom-made for your family, your finances and your future <https://www.nysmediate.org/what-is-divorcemediation-> June 6, 2024.

Ethnic conflicts pose significant challenges to global peace and stability, and there has been a notable absence of a step-by-step guide for mediating ethnic conflicts. Conflicts of this nature are prevalent in various regions worldwide, contributing to widespread human suffering, displacement, and socio-economic instability.

As these conflicts persist, there is an increasing need for comprehensive mediation strategies that address the unique dynamics of such disputes to mitigate their impact and promote enduring peace. Mediating such conflicts requires a nuanced understanding of the underlying causes, historical context, and cultural dynamics. This post utilized academic research and practical lessons to outline an effective and comprehensive step by step approach to ethnic conflict mediation. Ethnic conflict mediation refers to a systematic and impartial process designed to facilitate dialogue, negotiation, and resolution among parties involved in disputes rooted in ethnic differences. These conflicts often arise from tensions related to cultural, linguistic, or historical distinctions among different ethnic groups.

Mediators, skilled in conflict resolution and knowledgeable about the specific cultural contexts involved, work to create a neutral space for constructive communication. The aim is to address the underlying issues, build understanding, and assist conflicting parties in developing mutually agreeable solutions. The process emphasizes cultural sensitivity, fairness, and the establishment of sustainable peace, fostering reconciliation and harmony within ethnically diverse communities June 6, 2024">https://icermediation.org/mediating-ethnic-conflict/>June 6, 2024.

Conflicts involving religion present unique challenges to mediators.

Sukhsimranjit Singh, a specialist in cross-cultural dispute resolution, explains that in disagreements involving faith, the opposing parties typically hold strong expectations for what is right and what is wrong, which tend to raise differences above commonalities.

Moreover, religion often inspires particularly passionate actions and opinions that can be difficult to navigate.

Singh, who serves as managing director of the Straus Institute for Dispute Resolution at Pepperdine Law School, advises on how to overcome these hurdles in a recent ABA Dispute Resolution Magazine article, "Best Practices for Mediating Religious Conflicts." In it, he shares pragmatic advice drawn from more than a decade of practice in the area.

Here are a few of his pointers:

1: Slow down.

Religious conflicts revolve around people's most sensitive beliefs, stoking passionate responses that can cloud the core dispute at hand. Singh cites the example of a case involving two congregations in a large religious community. In this instance, each group firmly declared that its "religious orientation" was right and the other side was wrong.

"In this multi-party environment, the participants expected to be heard but no one was willing to listen," Singh recalls, noting the deep distrust and feelings of disrespect among members of both sides due to past comments and actions.

"In another dispute, I might have asked the parties to review their stories in opening session and then immediately tried to help them move on in a private caucus," Singh says.

But as much as Singh wished to fast-forward the mediation conversation to the future, he instead invested days sifting through the hurt feelings and emotional innuendo to uncover the core source of distrust: each congregation had a different interpretation of the community's code of conduct.

"Taking time and extending the information-gathering phase of mediation allowed me to get a clear view of what each group cared about and valued, and after providing feedback to both sides, it also allowed each side to understand more deeply the other's motivating core beliefs and values."

2: Understand historic orientations.

In conflicts involving faith, can be especially helpful to learn as much as possible about the past histories of the parties involved in the dispute, Singh says.

Doing so can provide a clearer understanding of the motivating core beliefs and values at play. It can help the mediator more accurately identify the position of each side and help the opposing parties confront the core dispute that brought them to the table.

Armed with a solid background, the mediator can better help one side understand the other. "When it comes to religion, I believe that the essence of mediation practice is helping people understand and possibly shift their positions. I find that this often involves challenging parties' strict views from multiple standpoints," Singh explains.

Singh says that respecting history, specifically the pasts of the parties' specific religious institutions and communities, not only deepens his understanding of the conflict at hand, but it also helps him "create more trust and connection with parties, and has been critical to motivating everyone to find a shared solution."

3: Use faith-based tools.

Singh stresses the importance of a mediator's approach. "Language is always important in discussing and resolving disputes, and this is even more true when religious beliefs are involved," he says. "When personal values are up for discussion, what someone says can take on greater meaning and help bring people together – or drive them further apart."

In faith-based conflicts, it can be particularly challenging to even get the parties to listen to one another. "Because cultural identities are intertwined with our worldviews, divorcing our cultural identity for decision-making is not an easy process," Singh explains. Even just listening to the other party's story can require both a mental shift and change in attitude.

The use of texts and other faith-based tools common to both sides can help bridge the parties. Singh notes that "utilizing shared text as a source of guidance and direction throughout the mediation garners legitimacy between parties and promotes buy-in from both sides."

Elaborating further, Singh says that "every major religion, in its own way, promotes spirituality-based approaches to mediation and conflict resolution. I also found deep connections across such faiths: for example, the practice of generosity."

Citing the insights of Karen Armstrong, a former nun who has written extensively on the topic, Singh says that most faiths have their own version of the Golden Rule, "always treat others as you wish to be treated yourself," and introducing such concepts to the mediation can greatly help advance the conversation forward.

The last word

Singh says he approaches each mediation situation with caution and respect. "Religions are complex, and within each religion, people have different levels of adherence, and these individual differences make practices and beliefs even more subjective," he says. "With such a wide diversity of values and belief systems, one thing is for sure - no two mediation will be identical"

<https://www.americanbar.org/news/abanews/publications/youraba/2019/may-2019/three-tips-to-best-tackle-mediation-of-faith-based-disputes/> June 6, 2024.

Managing international conflicts has become a priority on the global agenda. The devastating consequences of conflict in an increasingly globalizing world order cannot be ignored. There are several peaceful ways to manage conflicts. These include avoidance, negotiation, mediation, arbitration, and adjudication. Of these, mediation offers many advantages. It has been studied by scholars and students of political science, psychology, business management, and law as well as practitioners. All have proposed various definitions of the process with very little consensus on any of these.

What are the characteristics of mediation? First, mediation is a voluntary process (Bercovitch 1992; Moore 1996). It takes place when disputants seek the assistance of third parties (Bercovitch 1992; Bercovitch and Houston 1993). The right to accept or reject an offer of mediation or a mediation outcome rests entirely with the disputants (Ross 1993). The fact that mediation is a voluntary process is directly related to its success or failure. Without a high level of disputants' willingness to concede, and motivation to engage in conflict management, a successful mediation outcome is unlikely to be achieved.

Secondly, the outcome of mediation is non-binding (Bercovitch 1992; Bercovitch and Houston 1993; Bercovitch 1997; Groom 1986; Moore 1996; Smith 1998; Touval and Zartman 1989; Wall and Lynn 1993). Mediation's non-binding nature distinguishes it from other forms of external interventions such as arbitration and adjudication. In

mediation, third parties have no authority over disputants' compliance with a mediated outcome (Groom 1986). Indeed, most disputants would not accept mediation in the first place if mediation bound them to an outcome.

These two characteristics mean that, for the most part, the outcomes of all mediation attempts depend entirely on the disputants' willingness to resolve their conflict and to abide by the mediator's term. In other words, mediation cannot be successful if the disputants do not see any reason to resolve the conflict quickly, or if they refuse to adhere to the terms of an outcome. Disputants' motivation is a crucial factor, which affects many aspects of the process (see Rubin 1992). It is also among the important factors affecting the choice of a strategy.

Mediation is defined here as a pacific approach to conflict resolution in which impartial third parties help disputants resolve conflicts through a process of information and social influence, without using violence or invoking the authority of a legal system. The objective of disputants in inviting or accepting mediation is to reach a compromise in a conflict, or at least to indicate willingness to do so (Richmond 1998). The third party in mediation may be an individual, organization, or country that is not a direct party to the conflict (Bercovitch and Houston 1993; Carnevale 1986; Touval and Zartman 1989; Wall and Lynn 1993). For a mediation to be successful and for a compromise to be reached, an effective strategy must be employed by a mediator. But how can we determine which strategy is likely to be the most effective? https://www3.gmu.edu/programs/icar/ijps/vol8_1/Bercovitch.html

1.2 Research problem

The main issues that must be addressed are the cost of conflict resolution and the duration of mediation. There is continuous global recognition of the pervasiveness and costly nature of conflict of all social processes, with a systematic and organized adoption of force and violence (Gartner, 2014). The cost of conflict remains systematic, exhibiting similar patterns over time and decades, greatly impacting human life, socio-economic and political systems, among others (Mueller, 1973; Gartner and Segura, 1998, 2000; Gartner et al., 2004). Numerous studies show that human causalties and material damage, produced in such conflicts, are generally regarded as the most salient type of political costs a society can incur (Ibid). Conflicts are dynamic and differ from case to case, whether domestic, tribal, religious or interstate.

Over the years, families have experienced violence, ethnic wars in communities, religious wars all over and international conflicts. Africans have experienced throes of war, with a painful strike and cost on human life, with millions imbibing the casualties from combat, with enormous war induced starvation (Amoo, 1992). The waste in human life would boggle the mind if particular casualties from the 1960s and 1970s of the Congo crisis, the Nigerian civil war, and Amin's butchery in Uganda, the Ogaden war between Somalia and Ethiopia were added (Amoo, 1992).

Scholarly research made attempts at focusing on domestic, tribal, civil and international disputes mediation, on cases such as the Democratic Republic of Congo, however, 40 % of conflict mitigation works are rather on interstate disputes, as the conflict between India and Pakistan over Kashmir (Gartner, 2014), Russia and Ukraine and Israel and Palestine.. Empirical analysis of international crises since

World War I consistently affirm that potential domestic audience **costs** for seeking peace and the propensity for concessions positively affect the probability of mediation (Melin, 2013). In tandem with previous studies, **conflict costs increase mediation incidence**, with findings also indicating that at high costs of conflict, states appear in less need of political cover for making concessions (Melin, 2013). Although previous studies create **causal effect of cost of conflict to mediation incidence**, however such analysis still requires extensive empirical evidence for validation. As illustrated in Table 1 below, costs, among them high degree of fatalities justifies the mediation rationale, nor the success rate of mediation.

Table 1: Conflicts Disputes and Outcomes, Interstate and Intrastate

Dispute	S
\checkmark	Interstate disputes cover a range of topics: territory (27.5%), ideology (5.8%),
	security (32.5%), colonial (7.9%), resources (5.5%) and ethnicity (20.8%);

- States tend to mediate other states; interstate dispute mediators are: individuals (2.3%), regional organizations (19.5%), international organizations (28.4%) and other states (49.8%);
- > Over 47% of the interstate disputes mediated are in the highest category of fatalities (10,000 dead or more;
- There is a preventative theme though, as 28.8% of the mediated disputes are in the lowest level of fatalities (0-500), with the remainder in between; and
- Interstate mediation occurs throughout the world; regional frequencies are: Central and South America (11.2%), Africa (16.8%), South West Asia (9.1%), East Asia and the Pacific (15.1%), the Middle East (33.6%) and Europe (14.9%).

Outcomes

- Conflict resolution efforts lead to some type of an agreement in 45.5% of interstate and an almost identical 44.3% of intrastate disputes;
- > The nature and durability of these agreements, however, vary considerably;
- The conflict management of interstate disputes results in more than twice as many ceasefires (9.9%) as intrastate disputes (4.8%), and slightly more full settlements and fewer partial agreements;
- ✤ Interstate disputes agreements, however, are more robust; and
- Almost twice as many intrastate as interstate agreements fail immediately (5.9%) compared to (3.2%). Critically, while 25.6% of interstate disputes last eight weeks, only 17.2% of intrastate disputes last that long.

There is no shortage of dispute in the field of mediation, and the themes that receive the greatest attention and active discussion are mediator qualification and process outcome (Noll, 2001). The arguments in the mediation area have revolved around which procedure is superior, who is competent to be a mediator, and how outcomes are measured (Ibid). International mediators are successful in diverse situations due to their interpersonal abilities, the attractiveness of the 'carrots' they offer the parties, and the 'ripeness' of the issue for resolution (Nathan, 1999).

"Success rate might be higher if they were proficient in mediation techniques, albeit it is not possible to adduce hard evidence in support of this proposition since failed peace making ventures cannot be replayed with a different mediator or style of mediation," (Nathan, 1999 p 16).

Despite appearing to understand the fundamentals of mediation, most diplomats lack expertise in the art or science of mediation (Nathan, 2007). African diplomats have expressed anxiety and discomfort about their lack of confidence and expertise while engaging in sophisticated mediation, with some ambassadors and foreign affairs officials calling for extensive training in mediation and associated skills.(Nathan, 2007):

"Ambassador Ami Mpungwe, the accomplished Tanzanian diplomat who facilitated the abortive Arusha peace talks for Rwanda in 1993-4, has said that throughout the process he was painfully aware that he and his colleagues lacked knowledge and experience as mediators. He did not know whether there was anything they could have done differently to avert the genocide but he was convinced they would have benefited greatly from training in mediation. A decade later, the need for mediation training remain unmet" p 13. Leaders' interests may also be selfish and context-dependent, including the need for recognition or stalling (Maundi et al., 2006; Beardsley, 2011). Fueling these needs may be feelings of distrust or reflect risk aversion behaviors (Kelman, 2005; Ben-Artzi et al., 2015)

as cited in (Beckerman, 2022). Such acts can be seen with the mediator bias within Algerian mediation of the American hostage crisis in Iran (Vokovic, 2016). The case highlights that "real bias" can play an important role in mediation when the bias adds to the mediator's capacity and desire to influence (Vokovic, 2016). Aspects of leaders' interests of being selfish and context-dependent are associated with the case of American's willingness to mediate the Israeli/Palestine conflict, both during the leadership of Presidents Clinton and Obama. Initial efforts under Clinton collapsed prematurely, according to Gartner (2014), the negotiations, which lasted two weeks, did not produce a substantive outcome and were deemed a failure, with long-term, negative consequences for the region that were "momentous." Towards the end of Obama's first term in office, there were suggestions that he had lost the support of both the Israelis and Palestinians in the peace process because of his failure to fulfil promises made to either side (Ibid). Both Obama and Clinton chose the dispute sighting the prestige that would result from bringing peace to this long-running and globally salient dispute - factors that flow directly from the dispute's intrinsic intractability (Gartner, 2014). Positioned as leader of the most powerful country in the world, US presidents cannot offer to mediate every dispute and likely anticipate that only success in the hardest to resolve disputes will augment their prestige (Ibid). Reasons for selection of this dispute for mediation and the reasons for their failure are related (Gartner, 2014). The highlighted situations and challenges create the rationale for the questions articulated below.

1.3 Research questions

1.What are some of the most notable examples (including successes and failures) of mediation procedures in household, tribal, religious, and international conflicts?2.What role has mediation played in chosen conflict scenarios, including domestic, tribal, religious, and international conflicts?

3.How have specific leadership styles influenced conflict resolution and outcomes? Leadership can be contextualized as organizations, states, or individuals.

4. What are the challenges and opportunities for certain leadership styles in mediation?

1.4 Objectives of the Study

The study's broad goal is to investigate the impact of leadership in mediation in chosen conflict scenarios, including domestic, tribal, religious, and international disputes.

Specific aims are:

1. Examine various examples of mediation practices in domestic, tribal, religious, and international conflicts, including both failures and successes.

2. Determine the relevance of mediation in various conflict scenarios, including household, tribal, religious, and international disputes.

3. Investigate the impact of selected leadership styles on dispute resolution and outcome processes in businesses, states, and individuals.

4. Investigate the problems and potential of certain leadership styles in mediation.

1.5 Relevance of the Study

Leadership is strikingly lacking from the literature on mediation, particularly international mediation. The vast body of extant literature on mediation leadership focuses mostly on labor market negotiations, school conflicts, community issues, and legal disputes. In these dynamics, mediators typically have specified norms, cultures, skills, and applicable knowledge and strategies to steer the dispute resolution process and achieve organizationally aligned outcomes. However, this does not appear to be the case in international conflict mediation settings, including interstate and intrastate. Experience has shown that the choice of assigning (or assuming) the leadership role appears to be quite contextual and ad hoc in nature. Kriesberg (1996 p 348) points out "that the choice of the person or organizations which take on the leadership or the coordinating role may be made by the adversaries themselves, by the intermediaries, based on assessing who would have the interest and resources, or through a power struggle."

Selection of a lead mediator is not a rational process, but a consideration of numerous factors such as timing, parties' positions, skills and abilities and resources of interested mediators to sustain that role and their credibility vis-à-vis external actors of the international community (Whitefield, 2010). Oftentimes UN secretaries-general major policy statements on peace and conflict, accord thorough viewpoints on early warning, military deployment and similar subjects, with minimal focus on mediation aside from recognition of its significance (see, for example, Boutros-Ghali, 1992; Boutros-Ghali, 1995; Report of the UN Secretary-General 1998). Similarity lies with peace operations, sanctions and humanitarian aid, which are the subject of discussion among politicians, academics and activists, but debates on mediation are largely confined to scholars and domestic practitioners (Nathan, 1999

Mediation is widely acknowledged as an important strategy for promoting peaceful dispute resolution and conflict prevention.Progressive strides within the UN, especially the notable focus of the current UN Secretary General, António Guterres, embodies a keen focus on mediation, emphasizing the need for innovative thinking that embraces mediation as an imperative strategy and necessary approach (Turner & Heyworth, 2019).

1.6. Organization of the Thesis

Organization of the thesis is as follows; Chapter 1 is the introduction, representing the background, problem statement, objectives and relevance; Chapter 2 is specific to the literature review; while methodology, findings and analysis are Chapters 3 and 4 respectively; Chapter 5 summary, recommendations and conclusion.

Subsequent Chapter, Literature review, will refer to selected negotiation and leadership theories such as game theory. Leadership theories and styles such as leadership by means of coercion, and instrumental leadership will be applied. Distinction of theses leadership modalities lies in the mechanism (s) of application and the kind of capabilities involved.

Chapter 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2. Introduction

Since mediation is consensual to all parties involved in it, scholars of mediation have studied the motives of involved actors as a way to uncover when and where mediation is most likely to take place.

Several factors that motivate conflict parties to accept mediation are identified in the literature, but one of the most established ones is the mutual hurting stalemate (MHS); which is a situation where disputants feel they are trapped in a costly conflict from which they cannot escape through victory (Zartman, 2008). According to Zartman, a MHS makes a conflict "ripe" for resolution since parties will seek a way out in order to avoid the negative consequences of what they feel as a costly predicament (Zartman, 2008). In essence, ripeness thus the moment where the conflict parties' fear of continuing the war becomes greater than the fear of peace. The proposition that conflict parties experiencing pain and loss are ready for negotiations is confirmed in a comparative study of six African armed conflicts by Maundi et al. (2006). Yet, the added value of this study is not so much in confirming Zartman's "ripeness" theory, which he put forward as early as 1989, as it is in generating new knowledge with regard to mediators' entries into armed conflicts. Basing the in-depth case studies on a rational-choice framework, the authors find that a high confidence in the mediator's ability to achieve preferred outcomes increases the probability of acceptance or a request of mediation. On the other hand, it is found that high stakes will make rejection of mediation more likely; since mediation reduces the flexibility of the adversaries in negotiations, they are less willing to be limited to certain outcomes when much is at stake. In addition, the authors illustrate how mediation can be used by conflict parties to obtain political support, since it reduces perceived accountability of the leaders that have to make compromises (Maundi *et al.*, 2006).

Findings as those of Maundi *et al.* (2006) have recently also been confirmed in quantitative studies. While studies on when international mediation is most likely to take place emerged as early as the 1980s (Zartman, 1989), it was not until the turn of the century that scholars started examining the conditions that promote the occurrence of mediation between conflict parties in a more systematic manner. In this regard, Greig (2005) points out that scholars of mediation have devoted considerable attention to the form that mediation takes, while ignoring conditions under which mediation is most likely to occur.

One recent quantitative study by Beardsley fills this gap and supports the proposition that conflict parties are driven by self-interest. Mediation is found to likely be when the conflict intensity is high, when it has an ethnic dimension, when it is between opponents of similar strength, and when the crisis is long; which are conditions typically associated with the presence of a MHS (Beardsley, 2011). The findings of a quantitative analysis by Greig and Regan (2008) are also in line with the idea of conflict parties being driven by self-interest, but they neither find significant nor substantial evidence that the number of annual battle deaths influence the willingness to accept. Nevertheless, they do find that conflict duration influences the likelihood of mediation being accepted (Greig and Regan, 2008). More specifically, the results in Greig's and Regan's censored probit model suggest that offers of mediation are most likely to be rejected in the earliest and latest stages of the civil war. The authors explain this finding by pointing out that both the earliest and the latest phases of conflicts have unique characteristics that make parties hesitant to negotiate: in the early stages conflict parties generally believe a victory is possible, while in the later stages the parties perceive high sunk costs making them hesitant to accept any alternative other than victory (Greig and Regan, 2008).

Greig and Regan (2008) also find that the reputation of the third-party influences the decision-making calculus of the disputants. A mediator that has reached an agreement in all of the armed conflicts in which it has previously been involved has nearly a 19 percent greater probability of being accepted as third-party than a mediator without prior success (Greig and Regan, 2008). In short, Greig and Regan (2008), although stressing conflict duration rather than battle deaths, find a relation between conflict costs and the willingness of conflict parties to accept mediation. They also find that mediators with a potential for success are more likely to be accepted. This means that Greig and Regan (2008), just as Zartman (2008) and Maundi *et al.* (2006), base their research on the idea that a necessary precondition for negotiations is a perception by the adversaries that a negotiated outcome is preferable to continued fighting and a way out is possible.

Beardsley (2011) has a different take on the reasons of warring parties to accept mediation. Although he recognizes that warring parties can be motivated to accept mediation by a desire for the conclusion of a peace agreement, Beardsley stresses that peace is not necessarily the ultimate goal of mediation. Drawing on Richmond's (1998) seminal study on "devious objectives" of warring parties, Beardsley (2011) puts forward two motives, other than a desire for a negotiated outcome, which might explain the onset of mediation. First, mediation in intrastate conflicts might be used by rebel parties to gain recognition. Governments indirectly legitimize the negotiation positions of insurgents if they agree to negotiate with them. Second, mediation might be used as a stalling tactic. Getting involved in mediation provides combatants with time to regroup and reorganize, which may allow them to take the battlefield from a stronger position and end up with a better agreement (Beardsley, 2011). Beardsley thus puts forward some theoretical arguments why mediation can occur in spite of a lack of a desire among the conflict parties to make peace.

The findings of the studies addressed above all suggest that conflict parties are rational actors, who make cost-benefit analyses, and are primarily driven by selfinterest. Indeed, an issue that has only been scarcely addressed in recent years, in terms of the conflict parties' motives for mediation, is the role of psychological dynamics that make disputants hesitant to engage in mediation. A recent study by Kelman (2005) is an exception in this regard. On the basis of conflict resolution efforts related to the Israeli-Palestinian conflict, Kelman (2005) explains that on the one hand, developing trust between opposing groups in armed conflicts is problematic, since both conflict parties believe – usually with a long history of supporting evidence – that the adversary is bent on causing them harm (Kelman, 2005). This level of distrust makes conflict parties hesitant to become involved in a mediation process. On the other hand, trust cannot be built without engaging in peace talks. Kelman argues that a mediator can play a decisive role in tackling this dilemma, since the presence of a third-party allows the adversaries to interact at a relative low level of commitment, which reduces the conflict parties' fears of the opposing party exploiting this trust (Kelman, 2005, p. 645). Indeed, instead of drawing on economic assumptions about the nature of human motivation to explain why conflict parties accept mediation, Kelman thus emphasizes factors that contribute to the persistence of violence and why initiating mediation is so problematic. In this sense, Kelman also points out that a rationalistic concept such as self-interest as an explanatory variable for the onset of mediation has its limits, since it overlooks the psychological dynamics underlying armed conflicts.

2.1. Negotiation theories

2.1.1.Game theory

The human mind has been engaging in games ever since the inception of the species. The law of the jungle has governed our actions for the greater part of our existence on this planet, which clearly highlights the existence of a subconscious mind which helps us differentiate between what is 'right' and 'wrong'. Much before the theory of games played was formalized; we fought wars, assigned armies, and engaged in negotiations that compelled us to study and know about the human mind to an altogether different level (theory of games of strategy). From Darwin's theory of evolution to advanced studies done by Sigmund Freud, from Socrates's arguments in the symposiums of ethics to Shakespeare's Henry V.- The study of game theory has always been an important aspect while making investigations about the human mind and its behaviour. The modern-day definition of game theory can be put something like this-Game theory is the study of the ways in which interacting choices of economic agents produce outcomes with respect to the preferences (or utilities) of those agents, where the outcomes in question might have been intended by none of the agents. (www.coursehero.com/file/119362850/Team-4-Game-Theorypptm/) It is the study of how to mathematically determine the best strategy for given conditions in order to optimize the outcome. It is the theory of how optimal strategies are formulated in times of conflict (ross. 1997) (BOWMAN &Gould).

(www.coursehero.com/file/119362850/Team-4-Game-Theorypptm/, n.d.) One of the best real-life possible examples of applying game theory is 'Prisoner's Dilemma'. The prisoner's dilemma is one the aptest applications of game theory and was first framed by Merrill Flood and Melvin Dresher while working at RAND in 1950. Later it was formalised by a Canadian mathematician Albert. W. Tucker in 1993 (BOWMAN & gould)It basically proves how two sane and rational humans would not cooperate and do the right thing even if it is in their best interest. The optimum reward for both parties would be if they agree to cooperate. For example:- If a police officer has arrested 2 criminals for a crime. Both of these criminals are kept in two different cells and can't have any contact with each other. The police offer both the criminals to either remain silent or blame the other. If both of them remain silent, they will get one year of prison time (Von Neumann and the Development of Game Theory). If both of them turn on each other, both will get 3 years of prison time each. And if only one of the accused blames the other one, the latter will be set free and the one blamed would serve 5 years of prison time.

The middle ground between ancient and modern game theory was made to metamorphose thoroughly, if not formalised, in Gerolemo Cardano's infamous book 'The Book on Games of Chance: The 16th-Century Treatise on Probability, published in 1663. Works like Augustin Cournot's Researches into the Mathematical Principles of the Theory of Wealth, Francis Ysidro Edgeworth's Mathematical Psychics and Emile Borel's Algèbre et calcul des probabilités made a huge impact on advanced studies and discussions on game theory (Walker, 2001a). They created a strong base for mathematicians and economists later on to systematise and approbate game theory.(Schwalbe & Walker, 2001a) In 1912, Ernest Zermelo gave two talks in the Fifth International Congress of Mathematicians in Cambridge. The second speech was

on the game of chess which prompted him to write a paper on game theory named "Über eine Anwendung der Mengenlehre auf die Theorie des Schachspiels". It was published in 1912 and was written in Dutch. This is said to be the first paper ever written on game theory. Being a chess player, Zermelo wanted to prove how this theory works in the game of chess. His theorem states "either White can force a win, or Black can force a win, or both sides can force at least a draw". He used backward induction to prove his theory. (Schwalbe & Walker, 2001a) A number of works on the theory of games were published in 1921 by French mathematician Emile Borel. He discussed the issue of bluffing and second-guessing the opponent in a game with incomplete information using poker as an example. (Theory of Games of Strategy) Then came the Zeuthen bargaining model in 1938, which occupies a prominent place among those theories of the bargaining process that have been formulated and expounded by economists. (Coughlin, 1992) And then finally came the giants-Neumann and Nash. Although many people have made contributions to the history of game theory, it is generally agreed that John von Neumann started modern analysis and that John Nash gave it its methodological foundation

This article significantly advanced the subject. Von Neumann introduced the topic of game theory for the first time in his 1928 work, "Theory of Parlor Games," which also established the renowned Minimax theorem. Von Neumann anticipated that game theory would be a significant tool for economists. To establish his hypothesis, he collaborated with Princeton University economist Oskar Morgenstern, an Austrian (cournot)(MATHEMATICAL PSYCHICS)(Schwalbe & Walker, 2001). The discipline of economics was dramatically altered by their work. The book's applicability to psychology, sociology, politics, military, leisure activities, and many other areas quickly became clear, despite the fact that it was originally only meant for

economists. In 1950, John Nash, an American mathematician, came up with the Nash theory, which stated: "a situation in which a player will continue with their chosen strategy, having no incentive to deviate from it, after taking into consideration the opponent's strategy." (GAME THEORY-NASH EQUILIBRIUM AND ITS APPLICATIONS, 2015b)Game theory booms after this. One of the greatest developments in social science was the creation of noncooperative game theory was done by John Nash. (PINTO)To better comprehend how the core concepts of noncooperative game theory were established and how they altered the history of economic theory, Nash's work in this field is reviewed in its historical context. In 1971, the international journal of game theory was started. In 1972, John Maynard Smith, a British mathematician applied game theory to animal behaviour and with Price, he proved that game theory is also used in the evaluation of the species. They wrote the book "Game theory and the Evaluation of Fighting". In the last quarter of the twentieth century and early 2000s, Game theory paid special attention to the formulation of dynamic models. In 2007, Roger Myerson, alongside Leonid Hurwicz and Eric Maskin, was awarded the Nobel prize in Economics "for having laid the foundations of mechanism design theory" with game theory structure and its design. Roger Myerson has provided a clear and thorough examination of the models, solution concepts, results, and methodological principles of noncooperative and cooperative game theory. Myerson introduced, clarified, and synthesised the extraordinary advances made in the subject over the past fifteen years, presents an overview of decision theory, and comprehensively reviews the development of the fundamental models with games in extensive form and strategic form.(Myerson, 2025) In 2005, game theorists Thomas Schelling and Robert Aumann won the Bank of Sweden Prize in Economic Sciences. Dynamic models, the earliest applications of evolutionary game theory, were a focus of Schelling's work. (Pinto, n.d.)Aumann made significant contributions to the equilibrium school, creating a coarsening correlated equilibrium and a thorough investigation of the presumption of general knowledge. For "laying the basis of mechanism design theory," Leonid Hurwicz, Eric Maskin, and Roger Myerson were given the 2007 Nobel Prize in Economics. A significant graduate text, Game Theory, Analysis of Conflict, and the idea of appropriate equilibrium are among Myerson's accomplishments. Hurwicz first proposed and formally established the idea of incentive compatibility. For "the theory of stable allocations and the practise of market design," (MATHEMATICAL PSYCHICS, n.d.)Alvin E. Roth and Lloyd S. Shapley received the Nobel Prize in Economics in 2012.

Shapley is generally considered one of the most important contributors to the development of game theory. Shapley won the 2012 Nobel Memorial Prize for "The theory of stable allocations and the practice of Market design" along with Alvin E. Roth. He elaborated on how some market participants cannot be divided a priori between a buyer and a seller. When the price of a product fluctuates, in some cases, one participant can be the seller and the buyer. Stocks are a clear example of commodities exchanged in such markets. However, in a market without this property: participants are either buyers or sellers, regardless of the price of the goods. Physical or the legal characteristics of the participants also make them be on the unique sides of the market (ddd.uab.cat/record/174208) (Jordi Massó Dept. d'Economia i d'Història Econòmica Facultat d'Economia i Empresa Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona 08193 Bellaterra, n.d.). Shapley also collaborated closely with his friend mathematician and game theorist Robert Aumann. Together, the two defined the Aumann-Shapley value. It was built upon Shapley's most famous work, the Shapley

value, which is a way of evaluating a game situation before the game gets played. Jean Tirole, a game theorist, received the Nobel Prize in 2014. A total of 15 game theorists have won the Economics Nobel prize. RESEAR

2.2. Leadership theories

Leadership literature reveals that theories have been refined and modified with passage of time and none of the theory is completely irrelevant. As mentioned earlier, relevance depends on the context in that it is applied. The type of leadership applied in functions entailing very high degree of precision, confidence level, sensitivity, care and technical expertise may be different than in simple management-oriented portfolios, as one that does not fit all heads (Dess, & Picken, 2000). It means that situations, contexts, culture, working environment, new laws and regulations, information overload, organizational complexities and psycho-socio developments remarkably impact the leadership concept thereby, making it commensurate to the changing organizational dynamics (Amabile, Schatzel, Moneta & Kramer, 2004). The great men became irrelevant and consequently growth of the organizations. "The passing years have given the coup de grace to another force the great man who with brilliance and farsightedness could preside with dictatorial powers as the head of a growing organization but in the process retarded democratization". It was also determined that, "a person does not become a leader merely by virtue of the possession of some combination of traits" (Samad, 2012). On the amount of direction and guidance, the dynamic among these factors was established; socio-emotional support and task behavior, in performing a task the readiness level (commitment and competence) of the followers and relationship behavior required by the followers

functions and objective (Ryan & Tipu, 2013). Without involving subordinates, the autocratic leader makes decisions, laissez-faire leader lets subordinates make the decision and hence takes no real leadership role other than assuming the position and the democratic leader accesses his subordinates then takes his decision.

2.2.1. Coercive Leadership

Coercive leadership is a leadership style characterized by its focus on obtaining immediate results through the imposition of strict rules and guidelines. In this context, it is essential to define and fully understand what this leadership style entails and its relevance in the work environment. We will explore its detailed definition and the context in which it is usually applied, and then critically analyze the importance of leadership in the workplace. In addition, we will closely examine how leadership, including coercive leadership, influences the dynamics of a team and the overall success of an organization.

Coercive leadership, also known as authoritarian leadership, is characterized by a dominant leadership style in which the leader exercises significant control over subordinates. This style is based on the imposition of rigid rules and guidelines, with a focus on obtaining results quickly and effectively. In a work environment where coercive leadership is applied, employees are expected to follow the leader's orders without question, and decisions are usually made unilaterally by the leader.

Coercive leadership tends to be most effective in crisis or emergency situations, where rapid decision making and immediate execution is required. It can also be useful in highly regulated environments, where compliance with rules and procedures is critical to the operation of the organization. However, this style of leadership can have negative effects if applied continuously in situations that do not require such authoritarian supervision.

Leadership plays a key role in any work environment. Leaders are responsible for guiding their teams toward the achievement of organizational goals and objectives. Effective leadership can inspire motivation, foster collaboration and improve employee productivity. On the other hand, ineffective leadership can generate discontent, demotivation and conflict in the workplace, which can negatively affect the achievement of the organization's objectives.

The dynamics of a team are closely related to the leadership style practiced. In the case of coercive leadership, centralized decision making can lead to a lack of participation and creativity on the part of team members. Morale may decrease, and employees may feel less committed to their work.

In terms of organizational success, effective leadership is a critical factor. While coercive leadership can be useful in specific situations, its constant application can undermine innovation and the long-term adaptability of the organization. Therefore, it is essential that leaders understand when it is appropriate and when it is not appropriate to apply this leadership style.

Coercive leadership is distinguished by a number of key characteristics that delineate its approach and its impact on the work environment. By understanding these characteristics, one can better appreciate how this leadership style influences team dynamics and organizational results. The following are the main characteristics of coercive leadership:

1. Focus on Immediate Results

The coercive leader has a clear focus on obtaining immediate and tangible results. Their priority is to ensure that goals and objectives are achieved efficiently and without delay. This approach can be especially effective in crisis situations or when immediate action is required.

2. Exploration in the Prioritization of Results over Other Issues

One of the distinguishing characteristics of coercive leadership is its inclination to prioritize results over other aspects, such as the emotional well-being of employees or innovation. The leader tends to focus on achieving the stated objectives, often at the expense of considering other important variables.

3. Rational over Emotional Decisions

The coercive leader makes decisions based on logic and objectivity rather than letting emotions influence their choices. This approach can lead to more accurate and efficient decision making, but often lacks empathy and understanding of employees' emotional needs.

4. Use of Power for Operation

The coercive leader uses his authority and power to ensure that operations are carried out efficiently and in accordance with established standards. He can make decisions unilaterally and expects his orders to be followed without question.

5. Impact on Morale and Work Climate

One of the most salient characteristics of coercive leadership is its effect on morale and work climate. Because of its focus on authority and the imposition of strict rules, this leadership style can create a tense and uncooperative work atmosphere. Employees may feel demotivated and have low morale, which can negatively affect their performance and commitment.

It is important to keep in mind that while coercive leadership can be effective in certain specific situations, its constant application in inappropriate contexts can have detrimental consequences for employee well-being and organizational culture. In the following segments, we will explore in depth the advantages and disadvantages of coercive leadership and when its use is appropriate.

The following case is an example that explains very well the characteristics of a coercive leader and how this style affected the work environment:

It is not difficult to understand why, of all leadership styles, coercive leadership is the least effective for most situations. Despite their focus on obtaining immediate results, the coercive type of leader brings a number of negative effects that can have a detrimental impact on the dynamics of a team and the long-term success of an organization. These negative effects are discussed in detail below:

1. Linearity in Decision Making

Coercive leadership is characterized by hierarchical and linear decision making, where decisions are imposed by the leader and are expected without question. This linearity can hinder creativity and employee participation, as the exchange of ideas and perspectives is not encouraged.

2.Lack of Flexibility and Innovation

The rigidity of coercive leadership can lead to a lack of flexibility and adaptability in the organization. Processes and practices can become static, hindering the organization's ability to innovate and adjust to changes in the business environment.

3. Loss of Initiative and Responsibility

When a leader makes decisions in an authoritarian manner, employees may feel that they lack autonomy and responsibility in their work. This can lead to a loss of initiative on the part of employees, as they are discouraged from making decisions on their own.

4. Erosion of Motivation and Pride at Work.

Coercive leadership can erode employee motivation, as they feel less valued and recognized for their work. Lack of emotional support and the imposition of strict rules can undermine the sense of pride at work, which negatively affects job satisfaction.

5. Impact on Employee Self-Determination and Organizational Culture

The constant application of coercive leadership can influence employees' selfdetermination, as they are limited in their ability to make decisions and contribute to the decision-making process. This can lead to an organizational culture characterized by dependence on the leader rather than employee autonomy.

It is essential to understand that while coercive leadership may be effective in crisis situations or in highly regulated contexts, its continued and inconsiderate application in other scenarios can lead to detrimental consequences for the organization. Leaders should be aware of the negative effects this leadership style can have on morale, motivation and organizational culture, and use it with caution and consideration. In the following segments, we will explore when it is appropriate to use coercive leadership and what its advantages are in specific situations.

Although coercive leadership is often associated with negative effects on morale and work dynamics, there are specific situations in which its application can be appropriate and effective. Let's look at when coercive leadership can be beneficial:

1. Specific Application Situations

Coercive leadership is appropriate in specific situations that require quick decision making and strict adherence to rules and procedures. For example, in manufacturing environments where safety is critical or during a crisis where an immediate response is needed, a coercive leader can be effective.

A clear example of the effectiveness of coercive leadership is when an organization faces a serious security breach where immediate action is required to prevent harm to employees and assets. The coercive leader can take control of the situation, impose strict security procedures and ensure immediate compliance.

2. Breaking Bad Habits

When there are ingrained work habits that are detrimental to the organization, coercive leadership can be helpful in breaking those patterns. In such cases, the leader imposes necessary changes and ensures that the new work guidelines are followed.

If an organization has been dealing with an inefficient work culture or outdated work practices, the coercive leader can take bold steps to introduce new ways of working and ensure compliance.

3. Use in Genuine Emergencies

During genuine emergency situations, such as natural disasters or business crises, coercive leadership can be crucial. An authoritarian leader can make quick decisions and efficiently coordinate the organization's response to mitigate damage and ensure safety.

As in the case of the recent COVID-19 pandemic, coercive leadership can be crucial. Leaders must make quick decisions to ensure security and business continuity. At such times, authority and the imposition of strict measures may be necessary for the survival of the organization.

4. Dealing with Problem Employees

At times, teams may face challenges due to problem employees who undermine productivity or morale. Coercive leadership can be employed as a strategy to effectively address these problems, ensuring that firm and necessary action is taken.

When faced with problem employees, the coercive leader may apply strategies such as setting clear expectations, close supervision, and imposing consequences to ensure that problems are effectively addressed. This firmness may be necessary to maintain the integrity of the equipment.

In conclusion, coercive leadership is a leadership style that, while it can be effective in specific situations, should be used with extreme caution and consideration. It is important to recognize that its constant and inconsiderate application can have negative effects on employee morale, team dynamics and organizational culture.

It is essential to reflect on the importance of not abusing this style of leadership, reserving it for situations that require quick decision-making, strict control or the

correction of entrenched harmful behaviors. The leader must be aware of the negative effects it can have on the motivation and emotional well-being of employees.<https://belider.net/en/coercive-leadership-style/>, June 10, 2024.

2.2.2. Instrumental Leadership

Different authors have been defined leadership in different ways all the definitions and assumptions are right and touch the original line with verity of ways some of them are below. According to (James M. Burns, 1978) leader is one who instills purposes, not one who control employees by its brute force. A leader is someone who can take a group of people at a certain point that other people don't think they can go (Rick L. Edgeman 1978). Leadership can be defined as a process of moving people to reach the desired goals (Jong and Hartog 2007).

Organizational leaders adopt different styles of leadership in different situations but in our study we will follow discuss the Instrumental leadership. Instrumental leaders can motivate employees by setting clear goals and directing the peoples toward goal attainment. Instrumental leaders closely supervise their employees and exert pressure on employees to attain the organizational goals.

Consideration leadership style (also called supportive or Instrumental Leadership) in which the organizational leader creates an environment of support and friendliness and where employees" ideas and input are sought and valued (House 1971). Empirical studies have confirmed that Instrumental Leadership is effective in increasing organizational commitment, job satisfaction and performance (Euwema, Wendt and van Emmerik 2007; Jaramillo and Mulki 2008; Vecchio, Justin, and Pearce 2010).

Instrumental Leadership Style

Instrumental Leadership style is that involves all employees of a team in indicating necessary goals and developing procedures or strategies to achieve these goals. Instrumental leaders create an intense environment during work and employees can not question to this type of leaders (Euwema, Wendt, and van Emmerik 2007). Under this style of leadership the team leader directing orders rather than plays a role of facilitator on employees to achieve those goals. Under this instrumental leadership style employees are less valued than participative style and not can much express their ideas, experiences and opinions easily with their leaders. Research shows when an employee seeks a leader as approachable and reliable source of support, that result is greater satisfaction and higher organizational commitment (Jaramillo, Mulki, and Marshall''s 2005).

2.3. Conclusion

This chapter reviewed the literature on mediation and leadership in the context of conflict. The chapter discussed the principles of negotiation, mediation, and leadership in the context of dispute settlement and resolution. Furthermore, negotiating and leadership theories were examined. The chapter conducted an analysis of various case studies that coincide with theories on negotiation, mediation, and leadership, showing both successes and failures of outcomes.

In general, the literature does not place as much emphasis on mediation and the role of leadership in conflict as it does on military-related actions particular to peacekeeping components. Although there has been some emerging research on mediation, albeit limited analysis has been conducted primarily under the auspices of the post-cold-war nuanced conflict dynamics beyond interstate scope, which also captures alternative models of mediation incorporating leadership styles in the unique conflict resolution challenges posed by internal or intrastate conflicts.

There is an increasing desire for in-depth research and analysis on mediation and leadership in internal conflicts, particularly to better understand their relevance in emerging modern internal conflicts or wars. This paper investigates selected cases of mediation procedures in household, tribal, religious, and interstate conflicts, including both failures and successes.

It also investigates the significance of mediation in the selected scenarios, as well as the impact of specific leadership modalities used during conflict mediation, the process's outcome, and the problems and possibilities offered by certain applied styles. Post-cold war conflict necessitates sound theoretical development, particularly in terms of mediation leadership styles geared toward the unique political and psychological characteristics of internal conflicts, as well as practical mediator experience and leadership roles that influence the outcome of the dispute resolution process.

Chapter 3: METHODOLOGY

3. Introduction

The 5 ways considered to carry out the research are qualitative, descriptive, analytical, exploratory and case studies, however, the research methodology will focus more on qualitative inquiries and case studies.

Qualitative research employs a variety of methods, including interviews, focus groups, and observation.Interviews can be unstructured, with open-ended questions on a topic, and the interviewer adapts to the answers. Structured interviews feature a set amount of questions that each participant is asked.

It is typically done one-on-one and is ideal for delicate or in-depth discussions. Focus groups are frequently held with 8-12 target members and are intended to explore group dynamics and collective perspectives on a topic. Researchers might be participant-observers, sharing the subject's experiences, or nonparticipants, detached observers.

<https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK470395/#:~:text=Qualitative%20re search%20uses%20several%20techniques,that%20every%20participant%20is %20asked>, June 15, 2024.

Yin (2009, p. 18) defines case study as an empirical inquiry which investigates a phenomenon in its real-life context. In a case study research, multiple methods of data collection are used, as it involves an in-depth study of a phenomenon. It must be noted, as highlighted by Yin (2009), a case study is not a method of data collection, rather is a research strategy or design to study a social unit. Creswell (2014, p. 241) makes a lucid and comprehensive definition of case study strategy.

Case Studies are a qualitative design in which the researcher explores in depth a program, event, activity, process, or one or more individuals. The case(s) are bound by time and activity, and researchers collect detailed information using a variety of data collection procedures over a sustained period of time.

The following key attributes of the case study methodology can be underlined.

1. Case study is a research strategy, and not just a method/technique/process of data collection.

2. A case study involves a detailed study of the concerned unit of analysis within its natural setting. A de-contextualised study has no relevance in a case study research.

3. Since an in-depth study is conducted, a case study research allows the researcher the leeway to use any method of data collection which suits their purpose (provided the method is feasible and ethical). Generally, for a sound, unadulterated and unbiased<u>1</u> study of the phenomenon under investigation, several techniques of data collection are used such questionnaire, survey, indepth interview, participant/non-participant observation and the study of documents (whether of books, archival manuscript or audio-visual records), conversations in natural settings, signs, physical artefacts and so on.

4. De Vaus (2001, p. 220) posits that the 'unit of analysis' in a case study research can be an individual, a family, a household, a community, an organisation, an event or even a decision.

<https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/0038022920970318?fbclid=Iw AR3CVwEO-

amDB9QlrbHmVWp99tlet5KXa7O8OS_0VsD0ygkTkmRhVXVzij0>, June 15, 2024.

Chapter 4: FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS

4.Introduction

The previous chapter discussed the methodology to be applied in the study. The use of the methodology will be broaden upon within this chapter, in relation to the research questions and objectives namely, mediation processes in domestic, tribal, religious and international conflict – failures and success, relevance of mediation in selected scenarios, impact of leadership styles on mediation of conflict disputes and outcomes, and challenges and opportunities of certain leadership styles on mediation. Analysis of the findings will be integrated within the same chapter.

The four main case studies of analysis will be Ontario's Domestic Violence Court Program, Conflict between Dinka and Neur in South Sudan, Religious Conflicts around the world and International Conflict.

4.1 Conflict

In the study by Harbom and Wallensteen (2005), they observed that "internal" or "intrastate" wars, being armed confrontations involving opposing social groupings or armed factions, which occasionally receive direct or indirect support from a third state, are on the increase in comparison to interstate battles. Most internal conflicts have occurred in the post - Cold war era all around the world.

4.2 Conflict resolution

A key feature of the changing nature of armed conflict is that the drivers of violence tend not to be resolved by peace agreements, as these agreements often result in elite power- sharing arrangements aimed at ending the fighting rather than addressing the root causes of the conflict (Saraiva, 2022). The focus on short-term conflict management rather than long term conflict resolution, often entail tensions frequently re-emerge not long after mediation processes are completed. Consequentially, when a country or society is on a recurring violent path, altering such trajectory toward peace becomes more difficult over time (Saraiva, 2022).

Reimann (2005) gave three approaches to dealing with conflicts as; conflict settlement, conflict resolution, and conflict transformation. Conflict settlement is specific to enabling a

definite end to all forms of the direct violence, without necessarily attending to the basic causes of the conflict (Zartman, 1989; Fisher, 1981). It considers conflict a zero-sum game, a deficit and anti-development phenomenon, with numerous strategies used incorporating a range of peaceful measures as negotiation, mediation or facilitation, including coercive measures like military, political or economic sanctions and threat (Chukwuemeka, 2012). Conflict resolution approach considers on-going conflicts as resulting from unsatisfied human needs (Kelman and Fisher, 2003). Conflict resolution framework distinguishes needs, which are essentially quasi-natural phenomena, from interests, which are flexible or negotiable. Security, equity, and recognition are a few of these survival requirements and principles (Burton, 1990). Resolution intends at not ending the conflict per se, however, to transfigure it into a non-violent conflict (Burton, 1990). Wide spectrums of methods like mediation, negotiations, or arbitration are among techniques applied in order to

convert the respective conflict into a situation acceptable for both sides (Burton, 1990). Among key objectives of the conflict resolution approach is to foster mutual understanding for each party's interests and improve communication between the disputing parties (Chukwuemeka, 2012). The approach aims towards conciliation, negotiation being the oldest mechanism, albeit the most effective and most widely adopted is the mediation (Nte, 2018). Known as a form of assisted negotiation, mediation is equally a stimulant for negotiation (Touval & Zartman, 2001).

4.3. Mediation processes in domestic, tribal, religious and international conflict Homes, Tribes, Religions and Interstates have been embroiled in several conflicts, with conflicts been resolved at one time or the other by conflict resolutions mechanisms especially negotiation and mediation. Mediators have been actively involved in conflict resolution, management or prevention in the past, current, and prospective civil wars.

The study by Odhiambo (2014) asserts that the presence of a mediator helps in the process of conflict resolution.

Individuals or institutions positioned in strategic leadership positions have played an instrumental role in various state and non-state conflicts. At the individual level, the following African former presidents such as Julius Nyerere (former President of Tanzania), Daniel arap Moi (former President of Kenya), Nelson Mandela (former President of South Africa), Samora Machel (former President of Mozambique) and Olusegun Obasanjo (former President of Nigeria), are some of the human resource that triggered resolution of conflicts in Africa (Nte, 2018) and Barrack Obama (former president of The United States of America) offered conflict resolution wisdom, "But at a time when our discourse has become so sharply polarized – at a time when we

are far too eager to lay the blame for all that ails the world at the feet of those who think differently than we do – it's important for us to pause for a moment and make sure that we are talking with each other in a way that heals, not a way that wounds". ">https://mediate.com/president-obamas-speech-offers-conflict-resolution-wisdom/>">https://mediate.com/president-obamas-speech-offers-conflict-resolution-wisdom/>">https://mediate.com/president-obamas-speech-offers-conflict-resolution-wisdom/>">https://mediate.com/president-obamas-speech-offers-conflict-resolution-wisdom/>">https://mediate.com/president-obamas-speech-offers-conflict-resolution-wisdom/

4.3.1 Case Studies

4.3.1.1 Mediation processes in domestic violence

Ontario's Domestic Violence Court (DVC) is a special program for handling domestic violence cases in the criminal justice system. The Domestic Violence Courts try to simplify the prosecution of domestic assault cases, provide more support to victims, increase offender responsibility, and provide early intervention. The program was started around 1996.

There is a Domestic Violence Court in each of the province's 54 court jurisdictions.

As part of the DVC Program, domestic violence cases are heard separately from other criminal law cases by specific judges who are trained about violence between intimate partners and familiar with the issues involved in these types of cases. The program also includes special training about intimate partner violence for police, Crown lawyers, probation officers and other staff that are involved in the program.

Domestic Violence is when one partner in an intimate relationship abuses the other. The abuse can be physical, sexual, financial, and/or verbal/emotional. Domestic violence is also commonly called "intimate partner violence". Intimate partner violence can be done by a current or former spouse or partner. It can also happen in more casual dating relationships. Intimate relationships include relationships between people of all genders and gender identities.

The Domestic Violence Court (DVC) Program involves teams of specialized professionals who work on cases involving intimate partner violence. They are supposed to work together to improve support for victims/survivors of violence and coordinate investigations and prosecutions of domestic violence cases. DVC teams include:

Police Officers– The police have specialized units to deal with domestic assault situations. They are often the first ones to respond to a scene. They are supposed to have extra training about violence between intimate partners, investigating these situations and evaluating high risk cases.

Victim / Witness Assistance Program staff (VWAP)– The VWAP program provides information, assistance and support to victims and witnesses of crime after charges have been laid in a criminal case. V/WAP tries to help victims and witnesses better understand and participate in the entire criminal court process.

<http://owjn.org//2013/05/victim-witness-assistance-program-support-for-survivorsof-violence/>

Crown Counsel– Crown Counsel is the government lawyer in a criminal case who tries to prove that the accused has committed a crime in Court. The DVC Program uses specific Crown lawyers that are trained to handle domestic violence cases. They work with the other justice system actors to improve support and safety for the victim/survivor.

Probation Officers- Probation is when a person who has been found guilty of a crime is re-leased into the community. When a person is released on probation, they have to follow certain conditions and are monitored by a probation officer to make sure they do not commit more crimes. It is very important for probation officers to work together with the other actors in the justice system to evaluate risks and increase safety.

Partner Assault Response program (PAR) staff– PAR is a community-based agency offering educational and counselling services to people who have assaulted their partners. The 12 session program gives offenders the opportunity to examine their beliefs and attitudes towards intimate partner violence, and to learn non-abusive ways of resolving conflict. The Court often orders that offenders attend the PAR program.

Duty Counsel- Duty Counsel are lawyers who are available at criminal courthouses to help people who appear in Court without a lawyer and who cannot afford to hire a lawyer. Legal Aid Ontario provides duty counsel at the criminal courthouses in Ontario.

Court Services and Interpreter Services- Court Services can provide information about the case, court dates, file Court documents etc. Also, if you need an interpreter or other types of accommodation in Court, you can ask the Court Clerk or Court Services for help.

In Canada you have the right to an interpreter if you do not understand or speak the language in which the legal proceeding is happening, or when interacting with any of the justice system actors, including police. Other community agencies- The DVC Programs involve other community agencies to help provide support and safety planning for victims/survivors, including helplines, family ser- vice agencies, and shelters for abused women.

Domestic Violence Court Advisory Committee: The committee consists of criminal justice partners, city representatives, the Children's Aid Society, the Crown, V/WAP and community organizations. The purpose of the committee is to manage the ongoing operation of the DVCs, to have a place to problem solve issues with the DVCs, and to maintain links to other community resources.

Special investigative procedures and specialized evidence collection by police: Police who respond to domestic violence calls should be specifically trained to collect different types of evidence, such as 911 tapes, medical reports, photographs of injuries, interviews with family and neighbours, and take audio or videotaped victim statements. The police try to get this other evidence so that the victim/survivor of abuse does not have to be as involved in the process and the police do not have to rely only on her statement.

Case management system: Crown lawyers work together to make sure that the right types of criminal domestic violence cases go through the Domestic Violence Court system.

Special training for all criminal justice actors involved in the processing of domestic violence cases: As mentioned above, police, judges, and Crown lawyers are trained about intimate partner violence, evaluating high risk cases and how to better support survivors.

When police arrive at the scene of a problem between intimate partners, they must look at the situation and decide whether an assault probably happened, and who was the main aggressor, or attacker. If you talk to police, it is important to tell the truth.

In Ontario, if the police believe there is evidence that a person has assaulted their current or former intimate partner, police must lay a criminal charge, even if the person who was assaulted does not want them to. This is called a Mandatory Charging Policy. (http://owjn.org//2016/01/what-does-mandatory-charging-mean/) If the police believe that a woman has assaulted her partner, she may be charged. Sometimes, if it is not clear to the police who the main aggressor was, both partners may be charged. This is called dual charging. If you are charged, the police must tell you what you are charged with and you have a right to speak with a lawyer before you agree to speak with police.

If your abuser is arrested and charged, police may release the accused with conditions, or keep the accused in jail until a Bail hearing. At the Bail hearing, the Court will decide if the accused should be held in jail or allowed out into the community on bail, until the trial ends. Bail is the temporary release of the accused before trial. If the abuser is released into the community, there may be certain conditions they must follow. If the conditions of bail are not followed, the abuser may be re-arrested and ordered to stay in jail until trial.

After the abuser is charged, the Victim Witness Assistance Program V/WAP should contact you with referrals to community agencies for support. They also help prepare you for Court and work with Court Services to arrange for interpreters or other accommodation, if needed. A Domestic Violence Court Crown will be assigned to the case and will evaluate all cases for eligibility into the Early Intervention Program (EIP). (See below for details)

The Domestic Violence Court can deal with domestic assault charges differently, depending on whether or not it was a first offence or involved a weapon or serious injuries. The case can follow two different paths:

Early Intervention Program (EIP)/ Plea Court– If the victim/survivor agrees to it, the Early Intervention Program is used for first time offenders IF:

there are no prior convictions for violent offences; there were no significant injuries or harm; and a weapon was not used.

If the abuser admits to the assault and attends counselling to understand and end partner abuse, the abuser may not get a criminal record. This counselling program is called the Partner Assault Response Program (PAR).

OR

Coordinated Prosecution Response– In more serious cases where the abuser has previous domestic assault charges, prior convictions, used a weapon or caused serious injuries, Crown Counsel will take the case to trial. If the abuser does not finish the PAR program or does not agree to do the Early Intervention Program, the Crown will also ask for a trial.

Domestic violence remains a serious problem in Canadian society, with the overwhelming majority of such violence directed at women. It affects all socioeconomic, ethnic, and cultural groups.

In 2019, there were 102, 316 victims of police-reported family violence and the majority (79%) of victims of intimate partner violence were female.

1. Approximately every six days, a woman in Canada is killed by her intimate partner.

2. As explained above, one way the justice system has tried to address intimate partner violence and better support women through the criminal justice process is by creating the special Domestic Violence Court (DVC) program. The DVCs try to resolve cases faster, pro vide early intervention, better risk assessment, and better support to women through referrals to community agencies and safety supports.. The Domestic Violence Courts are one of several initiatives the government has taken over the last 30+ years to improve the criminal justice response to domestic violence. Other changes include mandatory police charging policies, policies making it more difficult for domestic assault charges to be dropped against an abuser, changing laws to recognize intimate partner violence as a societal problem (not just a private matter), and improving collaboration between criminal justice actors and community services.. Over the years, there is evidence that the DVC Program has succeeded in helping the prosecution of domestic violence cases.

3. Domestic violence charges are less likely to be withdrawn by the Crown, and more likely to result in a finding of guilt than Criminal Code charges in general.

4. These cases are also moving through the criminal justice system faster.

5. However, statistics do not always show the whole picture. Crimes involving violence against women are often not reported to police.

6. Statistics on lower re-arrest rates may in part reflect the success of the Domestic Violence Court program, but it is also likely that less people are reporting their incidents of domestic violence to police. Furthermore, the average length of time between the arrest and the end of a case is still 12 months (in contrast to the 4-month guideline established by the Ministry of the Attorney General).

7. Additionally, cases involving intimate partner violence assault are also less likely to result in a guilty verdict than assault alleged to have been committed in a non-domestic context. This gap gets even wider when cases involving serious assault and sexual assault charges are considered.

8. Ultimately, there are still mixed feelings about the effectiveness of the DVCs. While policy reforms have had some positive benefits, the assumption underlying mandatory charging & pro-prosecution policies is that the criminal system is rehabilitative and an effective response to intimate partner violence in all cases. While this may be true in some instances, there are numerous examples where policy and procedures complicated a situation or exacerbated the violence for abused women.

9 Some women and their supporters report dissatisfaction and frustration over the lack of choice and control over the process. They feel that their views are not considered by prosecutors and the Courts and call for a more flexible or survivor-centred approach that considers how women in different social positions experience violence, its consequences, and the social and legal structures set up to respond to it.

10. We know that not all women benefit equally from justice system responses, particularly racialized women or women from historically marginalized communities. For these reasons, it is important that women survivors play a key role in evaluations of the DVC program and that its effectiveness is not determined by statistics alone. https://owjn.org/2022/09/06/ontarios-domestic-violence-court-program/, June 29, 2024.

4.3.1.2 Mediation processes in Tribal violence

Cattle raids and conflicts over pastures and wells between the Dinka and Nuer, South Sudan's two largest ethnic groups, have a long history, although, at times, relations between both communities have been marked by intermarriage and cooperation. Traditionally, cattle raids are a livelihood-sustaining practice, which allows the restocking of herds after droughts. It also has an important cultural function, as it provides the means for young men to get married. Furthermore, access to water and pastures is central for local communities in South Sudan. During the dry season, different sections of the Dinka and Nuer have to migrate in search for wetter places, often infringing on land claimed by other communities, which gives both pretext and opportunity for resource conflicts and cattle raiding. Over the past 30 years this dynamic has been amplified by progressive warming and more frequent droughts in South Sudan (Richardson, 2011).

Traditional conflicts between Dinka and Nuer have also been exacerbated by the civil war opposing South Sudanese separatists and the government of Sudan. First, the war brought large quantities of heavy weapons to the area, which has made traditional conflicts more lethal. Second, the Sudanese government used the hostility between different South Sudanese groups as a counter-insurgency strategy against the rebels of the Sudan People's Liberation Movement (SPLM), with the result that much of the killing during the civil war took place between the Dinka and Nuer.

After the signing of the Comprehensive Peace Agreement (CPA) with Sudan in 2005, South Sudan became semi-autonomous and competition between the Dinka and Nuer took place over political influence U.C.D.P, n.d.. Due to the fact that the Nuer supported the Sudanese government in the civil war, they were seen as not supportive enough of the new South Sudanese government. In 2013 the situation escalated after Salva Kiir, the South Sudanese president and a Dinka dismissed his vice president Riek Machar, a Nuer, on allegations of organising a coup against him. Initially limited to fighting between loyal and mutinous soldiers, the conflict soon developed into a civilian massacre. Following his dismissal Riek Machar threw his support behind an armed opposition of Nuer rebels and became their leader. This sparked bloodshed between the Dinka and Nuer, which is considered by some to be the next civil war in South Sudan (Howden, 2013). The South Sudanese army played a central role in this conflict as it is responsible for the majority of civilian deaths.

The exact amount of fatalities remains unclear but the official number of 500 was dismissed by experts. Eye witnesses stated that the real number was in the tens of thousands. Additionally, around 200,000 people were displaced and are looking for shelter in camps set up by the UN and NGO's such as Doctors Without Borders (Howden, 2013; Rémy, 2014; Scheen, 2013; Thielke, 2014).

The New Sudan Council of Churches (NSCC) has played a central part in facilitating reconciliation meetings between the Dinka and Nuer. In 1998, it held its first peopleto-people event between Dinka and Nuer officials in Lokichokio, Kenya, which helped pacify Dinka and Nuer relations in the eastern part of South Sudan, while fighting continued in the western part of the country. It was followed in 1999 by the NSCC-sponsored "Wunlit Peace and Reconciliation Conference" gathering Dinka and Nuer representatives with the support of the SPLM/A and various South Sudanese intellectuals. Following the conference, inter-group violence between Dinka and Nuer ceased. Women and children who were abducted in earlier periods of fighting were returned to their families. Contested grazing and fishing areas as well as trading routes were reopened. In addition, border courts were established and violations of the covenant, which was signed by all parties at the conference, were punished. Furthermore, a guarantee of security was issued to allow people, who had been displaced during the conflict, to return to their homes (Bradbury et al., 2006).

The Wunlit conference is considered by many as an exemplary case of local peacebuilding efforts in South Sudan, as it succeeded in pacifying Dinka-Nuer relations for more than ten years. Yet, waning support by South Sudan's political elites made the peace process highly vulnerable and massive violence between the Dinka and Nuer erupted again in 2010 (Africa News Service, 1999; Bradbury et al., 2006).

In August 2014 women of the Nuer and Dinka communities met for the "Bor Reconciliation and Healing Dialogue". This was the first time since the outbreak of violent conflict in 2010 that a peace conference took place. The conference was spearheaded by local pastors, supported by the UN Development Programme (UNDP) and hosted by the UN Mission in South Sudan (UNMISS). The meeting was described by a participant as an "amazing breakthrough [...] at the people's level, at the community level, and amongst communities" (Radio Tamazuj, 2014).

Since the conference there have been no reports of fighting between the two groups. However, it is unlikely that the conflict will be completely resolved in the near future, as several thousands of Nuer continue to look for shelter in UN camps in fear of being killed by Dinka troops once they leave the camps.

4.3.1.3 Mediation processes in religious violence

The conflict in Northern Ireland, which has killed thousands, has political and religious roots that are centuries old. Since the 12th Century constant revolts challenged the often brutal British rule of Ireland, climaxing in the 1916 Easter Uprising in Dublin. It sparked a chain of events leading to civil war and partition of the island. In the south 26 counties formed a separate state, while six counties in the north stayed within the UK. Over successive decades the Catholic minority there suffered discrimination over housing and jobs, which fueled bitter resentment. In modern times the conflict is centred on opposing views of the area's status. Some people in Northern Ireland, especially the mainly Protestant Unionist community, believe it should remain part of the United Kingdom. Others, particularly the mainly Catholic Nationalist community, believe it should leave the UK and become part of the Republic of Ireland. Violence would break out between the two groups where walls ended up being built to separate them in Belfast. In the early 1990s negotiations took place between political parties and the British and Irish governments. After several years of talks IRA and loyalist ceasefires held and in 1998 the "Good Friday"

agreement was signed. It set up a power-sharing executive, with ministerial posts distributed by party strength, and elected assembly. The deal was backed by voters in referendums in Northern Ireland and the Republic, which scrapped its constitutional claim to the north.

Israel is the world's only Jewish state, located just east of the Mediterranean Sea. Palestinians, the Arab population that hails from the land Israel now controls, refer to the territory as Palestine, and want to establish a state by that name on all or part of the same land. The Israeli-Palestinian conflict is over who gets what land and how it's controlled.

Though both Jews and Arab Muslims date their claims to the land back a couple thousand years, the current political conflict began in the early 20th century. Jews fleeing persecution in Europe wanted to establish a national homeland in what was then an Arab- and Muslim-majority territory in the Ottoman and later British Empire. The Arabs resisted, seeing the land as rightfully theirs. An early United Nations plan to give each group part of the land failed, and Israel and the surrounding Arab nations fought several wars over the territory. Today's lines largely reflect the outcomes of two of these wars, one waged in 1948 and another in 1967.

The 1967 war is particularly important for today's conflict, as it left Israel in control of the West Bank and Gaza Strip, two territories home to large Palestinian populations: What makes things more complicated is the city of Jerusalem. It is a holy city for all three Abrahamic religions and contested between the Jews and Palestinians over who should control it. Nigeria was amalgamated in 1914, only about a decade after the defeat of the Sokoto Caliphate and other Islamic states by the British, which were to constitute much of Northern Nigeria. The aftermath of WW1 saw Germany lose its colonies, one of which was Cameroon to French, Belgian and British mandates. Cameroon was divided in French and British parts, the latter of which was further subdivided into southern and northern parts. Following a plebiscite in 1961, the Southern Cameroons elected to rejoin French Cameroon, while the Northern Cameroons opted to join Nigeria, a move which added to Nigeria's already large Northern Muslim population. The territory comprised much of what is now Northeastern Nigeria, and a large part of the areas affected by the present and past insurgencies.

Following the return of democratic government in 1999, the Muslim-dominated northern Nigerian states have introduced Sharia law, including punishments against blasphemy and apostasy. Several incidents have occurred whereby people have been killed for or in response to perceived insults to Islam.

Since the restoration of democracy in 1999, Christian governments have dominated the country at the federal level, while the Muslim-dominated Northern Nigerian states have implemented strict Sharia law. Religious conflict between Muslims and Christians has erupted several times since 2000 for various reasons, often causing riots with several thousands of victims on both sides. Since 2009, the Islamist movement Boko Haram has fought an armed rebellion against the Nigerian military, sacking villages and towns and taking thousands of lives in battles and massacres against Christians, students and others deemed enemies of Islam.

In August 2017, a deadly crackdown by Myanmar's army on Rohingya Muslims sent hundreds of thousands fleeing across the border into Bangladesh. They risked everything to escape by sea or on foot a military offensive which the United Nations later described as a "textbook example of ethnic cleansing".

In January 2020, the UN's top court ordered the Buddhist-majority country to take measures to protect members of its Rohingya community from genocide.

But the army in Myanmar (formerly Burma) has said it was fighting Rohingya militants and denies targeting civilians. The country's leader Aung San Suu Kyi, once a human rights icon, has repeatedly denied allegations of genocide.

With more than half a million Rohingya believed to still be living in Myanmar's northern Rakhine province, UN investigators have warned there is a "serious risk that genocidal actions may occur or recur".

The conflict has its roots in the failure of a political transition supposed to bring stability to Yemen following an Arab Spring uprising that forced its longtime authoritarian president, Ali Abdullah Saleh, to hand over power to his deputy, Abdrabbuh Mansour Hadi, in 2011. As president, Hadi struggled to deal with a variety of problems, including attacks by jihadists, a separatist movement in the south, the continuing loyalty of security personnel to Saleh, as well as corruption, unemployment and food insecurity. Alarmed by the rise of a group they believed to be backed militarily by regional Shia power Iran, Saudi Arabia and eight other mostly Sunni Arab states began an air campaign aimed at defeating the Houthis, ending Iranian influence in Yemen and restoring Hadi's government.

The UN hoped the agreement would clear the way for a political settlement to end the civil war, but in January 2020 there was a sudden escalation in hostilities between the Houthis and coalition-led forces, with fighting on several front lines, missile strikes

and air raids. Yemen is currently a humanitarian crisis due to lack of food and medical facilities for the people.

Nagorno-Karabakh is at the centre of an ethnic and territorial conflict between the two countries that dates back to the early 20th century. A breakaway Armenian-majority region inside Azerbaijan, Nagorno-Karabakh has around 150,000 inhabitants. Armenia is majority Christian, while Azerbaijan is majority Muslim. Though it is part of Azerbaijan, Nagorno-Karabakh is run by separatist Armenians supported by the Armenian government. They have sought for decades to split from Azerbaijan and become part of Armenia, though unsuccessfully. In the 1990s, the region broke away from Azerbaijan, but has yet to be recognized by any country in the world. Conflict has recently broken out between the two groups.

Freedom of religion is provided by the constitution of 1995, and freedom of worship had also been guaranteed by the 1930 and 1955 Constitutions of Ethiopia, although in certain localities this principle is not always respected in practice. There is no state religion, and it is forbidden to form political parties based upon religion; all religious groups are required to register with the government, and renew their registration once every three years. It is a crime in Ethiopia to incite one religion against another. Discrimination against Muslims has been rampant since the creation of modern Ethiopia, Muslims were marginalized in the Haile Selassie era. Haile Selassie actually came to power during the rise of opposition to Muslims in government positions. U.S ambassador David H. Shinn stated in 2005 that the Ethiopian leadership continued to be largely Christian. Tension between Christian and Muslim Oromo were witnessed during the 2005 Ethiopian general election, when Muslim Arsi Oromo denounced the Shewa Oromo for participating in political nepotism.b There is some tension between members of the Ethiopian Orthodox Church and Protestant Christians, as well as between the Ethiopian Orthodox and Muslims in general. According to the Barnabas Fund, 55 churches were torched in March 2011 in the Jimma Zone by Muslims after a dispute. In December 2019 several mosques and Muslim owned businesses were attacked in the Christian dominated Amhara Region.

<https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/2b1bf8de178943f39da0f91ccace79cc>

4.3.1.4 Mediation processes in international conflicts

Traditionally, the term "international conflict" referred to conflicts between different nation-states and conflicts between people and organizations in different nation-states. Increasingly, however, it also applies to inter-group conflicts within one country when one group is fighting for independence or increased social, political, or economic power (e.g., Sudan/South Sudan, Iraq (now that the US has largely left), and Syria.

A distinction is made between private-sector international conflicts, which are conflicts between individuals and/or businesses which just happen to come from two different countries, and conflicts between different national governments. Private conflicts are similar in nature to private domestic interpersonal or business conflicts except that they are further complicated by distance, culture, sometimes language, and an ambiguity regarding whose laws will be applied. Sometimes these issues become very difficult to handle, but increasingly, international business contracts call for dispute resolution through arbitration with one of many international arbitration organizations. This avoids jurisdictional disputes, and moderates some of the other complications as well.

Public international conflicts tend to be much more difficult to resolve. While this term was originally limited to conflicts between sovereign nation-states, in the last two decades, an increasing number of so-called "international" conflicts have actually been inter-group or communal conflicts within one country. (Examples are Ireland, Sri Lanka, Bosnia, Kosovo, Rwanda, and Chechnya in addition to the ones listed above, and many others.) In most of these cases, the issue in dispute has been the sovereignty of a particular ethnic group or region, and/or the equality of those ethnic groups in the political, social, and economic structures of their own societies. Until recently, the concept of sovereignty suggested that other nations should not become embroiled in such "internal" disputes. However, the human costs and changing values have made international intervention in these "domestic" conflicts increasingly common.

An example of a private sector international conflict would be a conflict between a U.S. computer company, and a Japanese company which was supplying motherboards for the U.S. company. If the Japanese company had a contract requiring them to ship 10,000 motherboards a month, but they only shipped 6,000, this would cause a private international conflict. It would not be a conflict that involved the U.S. government, but it would be one that would likely be handled in an international tribunal of some sort. Another example would be a set of would-be parents who traveled from the U.S. to China, believing that they would be able to adopt a Chinese infant when they arrived. However, when they got to China, they were told that "their" infant was no longer available, and they would have to go home. This conflict might be harder to handle, unless there was some sort of written agreement about what would be done in the case of disagreements. Without that, the American couple would be on very shaky ground, being in China and being subjected to Chinese laws in the case.

Examples of public international conflicts are in the news daily. The conflict between the U.S. and the Taliban in Afghanistan is an international conflict, as is the conflict between India and Pakistan. But more and more conflicts within countries are considered "international," too, if international intervention is being contemplated or has actually occurred (as in Bosnia, Kosovo, Libya, or Iraq).

As indicated above, private conflicts are usually resolved in the same way as they are domestically, once the jurisdictional issues are worked out, unless they are taken to an international body of some kind (such as an International Court of Arbitration), of which there are many.

Public conflicts can also be resolved by an international body, such as the U.N., but that does not occur very often. More often, the countries engage in diplomacy, negotiating a settlement to their differences, or they continue their conflict at varying degrees of intensity and violence. Sometimes mediators are brought in, who may be from the U.N., statesmen from third party nations (for example U.S. President Jimmy Carter mediating the Camp David Accords between Egypt and Israel) or former statesmen such U.S. Senator George Mitchell in Northern Ireland or Jimmy Carter who continues to operate independently as an international mediator, but with considerable experience and respect. At times intermediaries are private citizens, often members of one of the "peace churches," the Quakers or the Mennonites for example. In addition to mediating, the U.N. or other international bodies fairly routinely will send in "peacekeepers" – armed or sometimes unarmed military and/or civilian forces who simply position themselves between the warring factions in an effort to stop the violence (though they do nothing to solve the underlying conflict).

While peacekeeping (halting the violence) is generally easier to accomplish than peacemaking (the negotiation of a peace agreement), it is not an end state. Rather it leaves the conflict in suspension until peacemaking--and later peacebuilding-- can succeed. It has been charged that in some cases this suspension of hostilities detracts from the peacemaking process, as it becomes apparently unnecessary. The warring nations or factions become dependent on the provision of outside peacekeepers forever, which is seldom, if ever, a viable situation. (This charge has been leveled at the Cyprus situation, for instance.)

<https://www.beyondintractability.org/coreknowledge/international-

conflict#:~:text=The%20conflict%20between%20the%20U.S.,conflict%20between% 20India%20and%20Pakistan.>

4.4 Conclusion

This chapter aimed at establishing the following aspects; mediation processes processes in domestic, tribal, religious and international conflict – failures and success, relevance of mediation in selected scenarios, impact of leadership styles on mediation of conflict disputes and outcomes, and challenges and opportunities of certain leadership styles on mediation. Contextual factors that entail complex social systems, including psycho-political dynamics, balance of power and other factors such as parties' commitment to enter real negotiations towards de-escalation and peace-making outcomes, partly informs mediators' abilities to sustainably influence the mediation process. Albeit, key to the process is also the component of mediator's individual leadership attributes embedded in nature of the lead mediator, such technical capacities and experience, skills, status, leverage and resources (external rapport). Applied leadership hinges not only on application of unilateral mode of style, but is oftentimes modelled upon combined modalities of diverse styles in order to tackle varying dynamics. Leadership world wide, as depicted by the above case studies, is often paralysed by the application of either mainly IL, defunct of coercive mechanism due to multidimensional incapacitation in financial, human and institutional resources i.e. low degree of economic, technical capacities and military resources, or mainly on coercive leadership limited in its effectiveness due to overreliance on external support and mechanisms. However, one critical strength that lead mediators stand to strategically benefit from, if rightly conglomerated with above factors, is the legitimacy bestowed onto third parties as a result of solutions norm, which is not often accorded to third parties. Such legitimacy mainly hinges on application of leadership highly cognizant of locally contextualized historical and social structures in which third-party mediators and conflict parties operate. Leadership, in its core focus, is concerned with the identification of actor capabilities and relationship structures that constitute the sources from which leadership can be derived, and with understanding the operation of the social mechanisms and behavioural strategies through which it is or can most effectively be exercised.

The findings and analysis provided in chapter four has thus adequately attended to the research questions and objectives stipulated in chapter one above.

Chapter 5: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5. Introduction

Chapter Five summarizes the thesis chapters, conclusion, and suggestions. Furthermore, it emphasizes the necessity for ongoing research, as the issue of leadership in mediation settings around the world necessitates more research than can be thoroughly examined in this study. A brief background is presented, followed by a description of the findings, recommendations, study limitations, and areas for future research.

5.1 Background

The courts of this country should not be the place where resolution of disputes begins. They should be the place where disputes end after alternative methods of resolving disputes have been considered and tried (Justice Sandra Day O'Connor)

The mediation session is private and confidential. Matters unique to the mediation discussion have been held by Federal courts to be privileged and inadmissible in any adversarial administrative or court proceeding with the exception of certain issues such as fraud, waste and abuse, or criminal activity. If a settlement was not resolved during a mediation session, and the dispute was litigated in any administrative or judicial proceeding, neither the mediator nor his/her notes can be subpoenaed by either party <htps://www.commerce.gov/cr/reports-and-resources/eeo-mediation-guide/what-mediation> June 6, 2024.

Divorce mediation is a voluntary settlement process used frequently and successfully by married couples who want to divorce, and by domestic partners who want to separate. Divorce mediation gives couples the option to plan their futures rationally, and in an atmosphere of cooperation and mutual respect. With the assistance of a trained divorce mediator, you can reach an agreement that is custom-made for your family, your finances and your future <https://www.nysmediate.org/what-is-divorcemediation-> June 6, 2024.

Divorce mediation is a voluntary settlement process used frequently and successfully by married couples who want to divorce, and by domestic partners who want to separate. Divorce mediation gives couples the option to plan their futures rationally, and in an atmosphere of cooperation and mutual respect. With the assistance of a trained divorce mediator, you can reach an agreement that is custom-made for your family, your finances and your future <https://www.nysmediate.org/what-is-divorcemediation-> June 6, 2024.

Ethnic conflict mediation refers to a systematic and impartial process designed to facilitate dialogue, negotiation, and resolution among parties involved in disputes rooted in ethnic differences. These conflicts often arise from tensions related to cultural, linguistic, or historical distinctions among different ethnic groups.

Mediators, skilled in conflict resolution and knowledgeable about the specific cultural contexts involved, work to create a neutral space for constructive communication. The aim is to address the underlying issues, build understanding, and assist conflicting parties in developing mutually agreeable solutions. The process emphasizes cultural sensitivity, fairness, and the establishment of sustainable peace, fostering reconciliation and

harmony within ethnically diverse communities <https://icermediation.org/mediatingethnic-conflict/> June 6, 2024.

Religious conflicts revolve around people's most sensitive beliefs, stoking passionate responses that can cloud the core dispute at hand. Singh cites the example of a case involving two congregations in a large religious community. In this instance, each group firmly declared that its "religious orientation" was right and the other side was wrong.

<https://www.americanbar.org/news/abanews/publications/youraba/2019/may-2019/three-tips-to-best-tackle-mediation-of-faith-based-disputes/> June 6,2024.

Managing international conflicts has become a priority on the global agenda. The devastating consequences of conflict in an increasingly globalizing world order cannot be ignored. There are several peaceful ways to manage conflicts. These include avoidance, negotiation, mediation, arbitration, and adjudication. Of these mediation offers many advantages. It has been studied by scholars and students of political science, psychology, business management, and law as well as practitioners.

Specific objectives of the Study were to:

Explore some cases of the mediation practices in family
 dispute, tribal war, religious conflicts and interstates conflicts including
 failures and success.

 Determine the relevance of mediation in selected conflict scenarios in family dispute, tribal war, religious conflicts and interstates conflicts

- 3. Explore impact of selected leadership styles on mediation of disputes and outcome processes, i.e. organizations, states, individuals
- 4. Explore challenges and opportunities of certain leadership styles on mediation.

5.2 Summary

In the second chapter, an analysis of literature was presented that focused on the theoretical foundations of negotiation, mediation, and leadership. Conflict is seen as a vital element of social dynamics, with both positive and negative aspects, and the spotlight is on collaborative and non-collaborative approaches to mediating problemsolving in the global political process of conflict resolution. The review highlighted the importance of reformulating and reassessing mediation strategies that do not adapt to the unique features of modern civil disputes that are steadily increasing.. The study suggested that leadership plays a crucial role in reforming approaches, as it embodies the essential principles of mediation processes by being actor-based, intentionally influencing and guiding a structure, facilitating activities, and fostering cooperative problem-solving relationships within a group. The study highlighted the instrumental and coercive models, with IL appearing to be crucial in reshaping leadership styles in present-day conflicts.Barker (2001) points to positivism and leader-centred perspective critics, which interpret leadership as a static concept, as having encountered criticism since the beginning of this millennium. Theorists as Underdal (1994) posit that, several scholars have noted that although leadership in international institution building remains a significant topic in any case of international collective action, little research has been done in the field. Theories by Bercovitch (2009), Moore (1996), Hopmann (1996) and Underdal (1994) on negotiation, mediation, game- theoretic models and leadership were reviewed. Chapter three (3), the Methodology focused The primary research methods include utilizing secondary data sources and employing the case study approach. The methodology emphasizes the use of multiple case explorations as the intended strategy, with a particular emphasis on case studies related to family disputes, tribal conflicts, religious tensions, and international (interstate) mediation. In Chapter Four (4), the goal was to explore the influence and consequences of leadership on processes and results. Findings from various case studies showed that the main contributors to failures, successes, significance, impact, opportunities, and challenges are linked to the history, nature, and causes of the conflict; demographic, cultural, and socio-economic conditions; the objectives and behavior of the conflicting parties; the involvement of external parties; and the approach and techniques of the mediator. The outcomes of primary case studies are crucial in determining the types of essential leadership positions utilized in peacebuilding endeavors.. In other words, Carment et al., (2009) argue that well-aligned focus on manipulative and facilitative strategies is most effective in the resolution of protracted conflict. While the details of the mediator's proposals and the agreements concluded by the conflict parties may naturally differ from one case to another, the mediating bodies' general goal is to attain peace, stability, constitutionality and democracy (Nathan, 2016). Leadership that responds to the conflicts solutions norm within the peace making structures should also be concerned with the identification of actor capabilities and relationship structures that constitute the sources from which leadership can be derived and the behavioral tactics that make it most effective in determining parameters of failure and success, relevance of mediation, impact and chances created within mediation processes.

5.3 Recommendations

* Current mediation structures of panel of prominent personalities, panel of wise, elders, among others, to undergo specialized mediation training orientation, to skillfully compound their ethical values, strategy and knowledge base of mediation practices, apart from the statesmanship leadership status.

* Academic institutions all around the world to strengthen their mediation knowledge generation repositories enhanced by both research and past and present practitioners' mediation experiences;

* Local and International non-governmental and faith-based entities to strengthen mediation capacities, as specific operational units within respective institutions; and

* Increased collective mechanism of shared costs in relation to economic and military resources to enable key ownership and accountability of family, community, religious and international peace making and security architecture.

5.4 Contributions to Literature

The study's key contribution to the literature stems from its attention on leadership in mediation processes, its crucial function in connection to process factors such as influence, context, and goal attainment. Past and present literature on mediation practices Commonly, there is a lack of data generation that leads to a thorough understanding of the function that leadership plays in mediation processes and conflict scenarios, with a focus on the family, tribes, faiths, and interstates. Such research mostly identifies characteristics, coercive mechanisms, and institutional/actor capabilities as major areas of investigation or causal pathways influencing the aforementioned variables of process, influence, context, and goal accomplishment. Existing literature has not only lacked increased focus on leadership, but also analysis keenly focused on diverse conflict scenarios on the Ontario's Domestic Violence, Conflict between Dinka and Neur in South Sudan, Religious Conflicts around the world and International Conflict . Thus, the study contributed to a thorough analysis of components such as; leadership in mediation undertaken by states, institutions, individuals - diverse scenarios on complex contemporary intrastate conflicts - in various countries - and intrastate conflicts triggered by different conflict drivers.

5.5 Limitation of study and Future research

The study faced obstacles due to a lack of data pertaining to the element of leadership within mediation processes, particularly in respect to conflict scenarios. Numerous research on various interstate and intrastate conflicts lacked a critical focus on the leadership aspect, including theoretical frameworks focusing on instrumental leadership. The majority of extant research focuses on procedural and substantive components of the process, mediator characteristics, and coercive methods, to the exclusion of any significant attention on leadership.

There is an increasing demand for in-depth research and analysis of leadership in conflict resolution, particularly to expound on their importance in emerging modern internal conflicts or new wars. In the post-cold war era, mediation leadership styles should be tailored to the unique political and psychological characteristics of internal conflicts. Practical experience of mediators and leadership roles is also important in influencing dispute resolution outcomes.

REFERENCES

Abaker MA. (2006). "On the Failure of Darfur Peace Talks in Abuja", Sudan Tribune, 25 August, pp 40. In Chukwuemeka, E. M. Exogenic factor and the futility of conflict resolution in Africa: The Darfur experience. African Journal of Political Science and International Relations, 6(2), pp 33-42.

Abiodun, O. (2011). Darfur: A Complicated Peace Process. Journal of Alternative Perspectives in the Social Sciences, 3(1). Retrieved from <u>https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C5&q=Darfur+Peace+</u> <u>Process&bt</u>

<u>nG</u>= (accessed 15.12.2022)

Abuelbashar, A. M. (2006). On the failure of Darfur peace talks in Abuja. Sudan Tribune, 25, pg.

 In Nathan, L. No ownership, no peace: the Darfur peace agreement. London: Crisis States Research Centre.

- Adrian L, Vindeløv V. (2014). Angreb på mæglingens DNA ansatser til en diskussion om tvungen mægling. In: Blume P, Henrichsen C (eds) Forvaltning Og Retssikkerhed: Festskrift Til Steen Rønsholdt. DJØF forlag, Copenhagen, pp 13–31
- Adrian L. (2013). Processretfærdighed det er også måden, der tæller. Juristen no.
 3Springer, Cham, pp 97–119. In: Anna Nylund, Kaijus Ervasti and Adrian Lin.
 2018. Nordic Mediation Research, Spring Open

African Union. (2013). Managing peace processes. A handbook for AU practitioners. Volume 3 Agarwal, N. (2009). Negotiation decision support systems: Analysing negotiations under the conditions of risk. Journal of Business Systems, Governance and Ethics, 4(3). Retrieved from <u>https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C5&q=Critique+of+gam</u>

<u>e+theoreti</u>

<u>c+and+behavioural+negotiation+framework&btnG</u>= (accessed 29.11.2022)

Amoo, S. G. (1992). The OAU and African conflicts: Past successes, present paralysis and future perspectives. Retrieved from <u>https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C5&q=Amoo+S.G&bt</u> <u>nG</u>= (accessed on 05.09.2022)

Amoo, S.G. (1993). The role of the OAU: past, present, and future. In: Smock, D.R.
(Ed.) Making War and Waging Peace: Foreign Intervention in Africa.
Washington DC: US Institute for Peace, pp. 239 - 261. In Nathan, L. (1999).
'When push comes to shove': the failure of international mediation in African civil wars: occasional paper. Track Two: Constructive Approaches to Community and Political Conflict, 8(2).

Antonakis, J., & House, R. J. (2014). Instrumental leadership: Measurement and extension of transformational–transactional leadership theory. The Leadership Quarterly, 25(4), pp 746–771. In Politicarum, D. R. Instrumental Leadership and Organizational Change, TU Dortmund University.

Antonakis, J., Bendahan, S., Jacquart, P., & Lalive, R. (2014a). Causality and endogeneity: Problems and solutions. In D. V. Day (Ed.), The Oxford handbook of leadership and organizations (pp. 93–117). New York, NY: Oxford University Press. In Politicarum, D. R. Instrumental Leadership and Organizational Change, TU Dortmund University.

Antonakis, J., & House, R. J. (2014). Instrumental leadership: Measurement and extension of transformational-transactional leadership theory. The Leadership Quarterly, 25(4), pp 746–771. In Politicarum, D. R. Instrumental Leadership and Organizational Change, TU Dortmund University.

- Antonakis, J., Bendahan, S., Jacquart, P., & Lalive, R. (2014a). Causality and endogeneity: Problems and solutions. In D. V. Day (Ed.), The Oxford handbook of leadership and organizations (pp. 93–117). New York, NY: Oxford University Press. In Politicarum, D. R. Instrumental Leadership and Organizational Change, TU Dortmund University.
- Anyang Nyong'o, P. (1989). 'State and society in Kenya: the disintegration of the nationalist coalitions and the rise of presidential authoritarianism, 1963–78'.
 African Affairs 88(351): 229–51, p 68. In Wamai, E. N. Mediating Kenya's post-election violence: from a peace-making to a constitutional moment. Kenya: The Struggle for a New Constitutional Order, 66-78.
- Arsiola Dyrmishi. (2014). Mediation's role solving conflicts in corrupted judiciary systems, Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences, Vol.5 No.22, MCSER Publishing, Rome-Italy

- Assefa, H. (1987). Mediation of Civil Wars: Approaches and Strategies The Sudan Conflict, Boulder & London: Westview, 1987, p 6. In Nathan, L. Mediation and the African Union's Panel of the Wise.
- Aumann, R. J. and Drèze, J. (1974) Cooperative Games with Coalition Structures, International Journal of Game Theory, 3, 217–237. In Agarwal, N. Negotiation decision support systems: Analysing negotiations under the conditions of risk. Journal of Business Systems, Governance and Ethics, 4(3).
- Baldauf, S. (2008). 'After two months of discord, finally a handshake'. The Christian Science Monitor, 8 August, pp 28. In Khadiagala, G. M. Forty days and nights of peace making in Kenya. Journal of African Elections, 7(2), 4-32 p28.
- Bass, B. M. (1990). Bass and Stogdill's handbook of leadership: Theory, research, and managerial applications. New York: Free Press, p 16. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Bazerman, M.H. and Chugh, D. (2004). Bounded Awareness: Focusing failures in negotiation, Working paper 04-062, Harvard University, Cambridge, p 14. In Agarwal, N. Negotiation decision support systems: Analysing negotiations under the conditions of risk. Journal of Business Systems, Governance and Ethics, 4(3).

Beardsley, Kyle C., David M. Quinn, Bidisha Biswas and Jonathan Wilkenfeld.

(2006). Mediation Style and Crisis Outcomes, in: Journal of Conflict Resolution 50, 1, 58-86. In: Giessmann,

H. J., & Wils, O. Seeking compromise?: mediation through the eyes of the conflict parties, p1.

- Bennis, W. G. (2007). The challenges of leadership in the modern world: An introduction to the special issue. American Psychologist, 62 (1), 2-5. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Bercovitch, J & Gartner, S. S. (2008). International Conflict Mediation. New Approaches and Findings. New York: Routledge, pp 2 4. In Hegertun, N. H. W. Faith-based Mediation?: Sant'Egidio's peace efforts in Mozambique and Algeria.
- Bercovitch, Jacob (2009). Mediation and Conflict Resolution, in: Jacob Bercovitch,
 Victor Kremenyuk and I. William Zartman (eds.) The SAGE Handbook of
 Conflict Resolution. London: Sage. pp. 340-357. In Hegertun, N. H. W.
 Faith-based Mediation?: Sant'Egidio's peace efforts in Mozambique and
 Algeria.
- Brams, S.J. (1990). Applying game theory to bargaining and arbitration, revised edition, Routledge, New York, p 95. In Underdal, A. Leadership Theory: Rediscovering the Arts of Management. In International Multilateral Negotiation: Approaches to the Management of Complexity, Zartman, W.

(Ed.) 178-197. San Francisco, Jossey-Bass Inc.

- Bush, R. A. B., & Folger, J. P. (1994). The promise of mediation: Responding to conflict through empowerment and recognition. Jossey-Bass. In: Fred Perloff. Ken Wilber's Integral Theory Applied to Mediation, Conflict Resolution Quarterly, vol. 28, no. 1, Fall 2010 © Wiley Periodicals, Inc. and the Association for Conflict Resolution DOI: 10.1002/crq.20014
- Carment, D., Samy, Y., & El Achkar, S. (2009). Protracted Conflict and Crisis Mediation: A Contingency Approach. In Bercovitch, Jacob and Sigmund Gartner, Scott (eds) op. cit., p.

233. In Duursma, A. 'Mediation with muscles or minds?' Lessons from a conflict-sensitive mediation style in Darfur. conflict trends, 2011(4), 11-19.

- Cohen, R. (2008). 'African genocide averted'. New York Times, 3 March. In Khadiagala, G. M. Forty days and nights of peace making in Kenya. Journal of African Elections, 7(2), 4-32.
- Coleman, C. (1994). 'Bringing in Buthelezi: how the IFP was drawn into the election', Interview conducted by Ron Kraybill, Track Two, Centre for Conflict Resolution (May/September 1994), pp.29-31. In Nathan, L. Mediation and the African Union's Panel of the Wise.
- Cox, R. W., and Jacobson, H. K. (1973). The Anatomy of Influence. New Haven,Conn.: Yale University Press, 1973, p 181, pp393-396. In Underdal, A.Leadership Theory: Rediscovering the Arts of Management. In InternationalMultilateral Negotiation: Approaches to the Management of Complexity,

Zartman, W. (Ed.) 178-197. San Francisco, Jossey-Bass Inc.

cooperation and coordination (p. 212).

Crocker, C.A., Hampson, F.O. and Aall, P.R. (1999). Herding Cats: Multiparty Mediation in a Complex World, United States Institute of Peace Press, Washington DC, p 59. In Vukovic,S. International multiparty mediation and conflict management: Challenges of

De Waal, A. (2006). "Explaining the Darfur Peace Agreement", 7 June 2006, retrieved from the website of the Friends Committee on National Legislation, www.fcnl.org, pp 38. In Nathan,

L. No ownership, no peace: the Darfur peace agreement. London: Crisis States Research Centre.

- De Waal, A. (2007). "Darfur's Deadline: The Final Days of the Abuja Peace Process." In War in Darfur and the Search for Peace, edited by A. De Waal, 267–283. London: Global Equity Initiative, pp 2. In Duursma, A. He who pays the piper, calls the tune? Non-African involvement in Sudan's Africanled mediation processes. Journal of Eastern African Studies, 13(3), 428-444.
- Dersso, S. A. (2012). "The Quest for Pax Africana: The Case of the African Union's Peace and Security Regime." African Journal on Conflict Resolution 12, no. 2, pp 20 - 21. In Duursma,

A. Partnering to make peace: The effectiveness of joint African and non-African mediation efforts. International Peacekeeping, 24(4), 590-615.

- Drath, W. H., McCauley, C. D., Palus, C. J., Van Velsor, E., O'Connor, P. M., and McGuire, J. B. (2008) Direction, Alignment, Commitment: Toward a More Integrative Ontology of Leadership. The Leadership Quarterly 19 (6), 635-653. In Phiri, M. J. B. (2018). Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Fisher R, Ury W.(1981). Getting to yes: How to negotiate giving in. London: Newman, pp 36. In Chukwuemeka, E. M. Exogenic factor and the futility of conflict resolution in Africa: The Darfur experience. African Journal of Political Science and International Relations, 6(2), 33-42.
- Fisher, R. J. (2001). 'Methods of third-party intervention', Berghof Handbook for Conflict Transformation, pg. 4. In Nathan, L. How and why African mediators compromise democracy. In Conference on the Ethics of Negotiation in Armed Conflicts, Pennsylvania, United States of America
- Flint, J. (2010). Rhetoric and reality: The failure to resolve the Darfur conflict. Geneva: Small Arms Survey. Retrieved from
- Flint, J., A. de Waal. (2008). Darfur: A New History of a Long War. London: Zed Books, pp 15. In Brosché, J., & Duursma, A. Hurdles to peace: a level-ofanalysis approach to resolving Sudan's civil wars. Third World Quarterly, 39(3), 560-576.

- Franke, B, Esmenjaud, R. (2008). "Who Owns African Ownership? The Africanisation of Security and Its Limits," South African Journal of International Affairs 15, no. 2: 137, pp 2-3. In Duursma, A. Partnering to make peace: The effectiveness of joint African and non-African mediation efforts. International Peacekeeping, 24(4), 590-615.
- Gammelgaard, B. (2017). The qualitative case study. The International Journal of Logistics Management.
- Gardner, J. G. (1990). On leadership. New York: Free Press, p 16. In Phiri, M. J. B.Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation:African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Gartner, S. S. (2014). Third-party mediation of interstate conflicts: actors, strategies, selection, and bias. Arbitration Law Review, 6(1), p 276, 269-294.
- Gelot, L. (2012). Legitimacy, Peace Operations and Global-Regional Security: The African Union-United Nations Partnership in Darfur. London: Routledge, p 8.
 In Duursma, A. He who pays the piper, calls the tune? Non-African involvement in Sudan's African-led mediation processes. Journal of Eastern African Studies, 13(3), 428-444 p 8.
- George, A. L. (1980). Presidential decision making in foreign policy: The effective use of information and advice. Westview Press, p 13. In George, A. L., Simons, W. E., Hall, D. K., Jentleson, B. W., Sagan, S. D., Herrmann, R., Lauren, P.G & Zimmermann, T. (Eds.). (1994). The limits of coercive diplomacy (Vol. 296). Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

- George, A. L. (1993). Bridging the Gap: Theory and Practice of Foreign Policy. Washington D.C: United States Institute of Peace, p 19
- Goethals, G. R., Sorenson, G. J., and Burns, J. M. (2004). Encyclopedia of Leadership. Sage Publications, p 16. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Gordenker, L. & Rivlin, B. (1993). The Challenging Role of the UN Secretary-General: Making 'The Most Impossible Job in the World' Possible, Westport, Connecticut: Praeger, 1993. P

6. In Nathan, L. Mediation and the African Union's Panel of the Wise.

- Greene, C. N., & Schriesheim, C. A. (1980). Leader–group interactions: A longitudinal field investigation. Journal of Applied Psychology, 65(1), 50–59. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021- 9010.65.1.50. In Politicarum, D. R. Instrumental Leadership and Organizational Change, TU Dortmund University.
- Griffiths, M. (2008. Interview: The prisoner of peace. An interview with Kofi A. Annan. Geneva: Centre for Humanitarian Dialogue, p 72. In Sihanya, B., Okello, D., & Kanyinga, K. Mediating Kenya's Post-Election Crises: The politics and limits of power sharing agreement'. Tensions and reversals in democratic transitions: The Kenya, 653-709.

- Hamel, J., Dufour, S. and Fortin, D., (1993). Case Study Methods. Newbury Park,CA: Sage Publications, pg. 5. In Zainal, Z. Case study as a research method.Jurnal kemanusiaan, 5(1).
- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & de Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods: when to use them and how to judge them. Human reproduction, 31(3), 498-501.
- Hampson, F.O. (1997). "Third-Party Roles in the Termination of Intercommunal Conflict," Millennium: Journal of International Studies 26, no. 3, p. 727. In Jackson, R. Internal War, International Mediation, and Non-Official Diplomacy: Lessons from Mozambique. Journal of Conflict Studies, 25(1), 153-176.
- Hampson, F.O. and Aall, P.R. (eds). Grasping the Nettle: Analysing Cases of Intractable Conflict, United States Institute of Peace Press, Washington DC, pp. 65–97. In: Vukovic, S. (2016). International multiparty mediation and conflict management: Challenges of cooperation and coordination (p. 212).
- Handel, M. I. (1978). War Termination, a Critical Survey (Vol. 24). Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Leonard Davis Institute for International Relations, p 28. In Chikonzo, B. J. Comparative Mediation and Its Outcome in African Wars of Insurgency: Angola and Mozambique, University of Nairobi.
- Herzik, E. B. and Brown, B. W. (1991). Gubernatorial Leadership and State Policy. Greenwood Pub. Group, p 16. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of

peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.

- HLP (High-Level Panel on Threats, Challenges and Change) (2004). "A More Secure World: Our Shared Responsibility" (A/59/565). New York: United Nations. Available at www.un.org/secureworld/report.pdf. In: Giessmann, H. J., & Wils, O. Seeking compromise?: mediation through the eyes of the conflict parties, p1.
- Hogan, R., Curphy, G. J., and Hogan, J. (1994). What we Know about Leadership.
 Effectiveness and Personality. The American Psychologist 49 (6), 493. In
 Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict
 mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in
 perspective, Coventry University.
- Hollander, E. P. (1992a). Leadership, Followership, Self, and Others. The Leadership Quarterly 3 (1), 43-54. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Hume, C. (1994). Ending Mozambique's War, Washington DC: US Institute for Peace, 1994. In Nathan, L. Mediation and the African Union's Panel of the Wise.

International Crisis Group. (1998). 'Burundi under siege: lift the sanctions; re-

launch the peace process', Burundi Report, 1, p.36-50; J. Van Eck, 'Brokers in Burundi: broadening the Nyerere mediation initiative', Track Two, 6:1 (1997); G. Evans, 'Responding to crises in the African Great Lakes', Adelphi Paper. In Nathan, L. Mediation and the African Union's Panel of the Wise.

International Crisis Group. (2006). "Darfur's Fragile Peace Agreement", Africa Briefing, 39, June, 2006. In Nathan, L. No ownership, no peace: the Darfur peace agreement. London: Crisis States Research Centre.

Interview with Executive Director, Leading Civil Society Organisation, Nairobi. (2011); Interview with Kenyan Journalist, Nairobi, 2 May 2011, pp 11. In Kanyinga, K and Walker. Building a Political Settlement: The International Approach to Kenya's 2008 Post-Election Crisis. Stability: International Journal of Security & Development, 2(2): 34, pp. 1-21

Kagwanja, P and R. Southall (2009). 'Introduction: Kenya – a democracy in retreat?' Journal of Contemporary African Studies27(3): 259–77 pp 68. In Wamai, E. N. Mediating Kenya's post-election violence: from a peace-making to a constitutional moment. Kenya: The Struggle for a New Constitutional Order, 66-78.

Kagwanja, P. (2009). 'Kenya's uncertain democracy: the electoral crisis of 2008'.
Journal of Contemporary African Studies27(3): 365–87, pp 68. In Wamai, E.
N. Mediating Kenya's post-election violence: from a peace-making to a constitutional moment. Kenya: The Struggle for a New Constitutional Order, 66-78.

Kaldor, M. (1999). New and Old Wars: Organised Violence in a Global Era

(Cambridge, UK: Polity Press, p 154. In Jackson, R. Internal War, International Mediation, and Non-Official Diplomacy: Lessons from Mozambique. Journal of Conflict Studies, 25(1), 153-176.

Kanyinga, K & Walker, S. (2013). Building a Political Settlement: The International Approach to Kenya's 2008 Post-Election Crisis. Stability: International Journal of Security & Development, 2(2): 34, pp. 1-21, DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.5334/sta.bu

Katumanga, M. (2010). 'Militarized spaces and the post 2007 electoral violence'. In K. Kanyinga and D. Okello (eds) Tensions and Reversals in Democratic Transitions: The Kenyan 2007 general elections. Nairobi: Society for International Development and Institute for Development Studies, University of Nairobi, pp. 533–65, pp 68. In Wamai, E. N. Mediating Kenya's post-election violence: from a peace-making to a constitutional moment. Kenya: The Struggle for a New Constitutional Order, 66-78

- Kelman HC, Fisher R, J. (2003). "Conflict analysis and resolution" in David, O. Sears, Leonie Huddy, Robert Jervis (ed.), Oxford handbook of political psychology, Oxford, pp. 315-353, Available @ http://www.wcfia.harvard.edu/faculty/hckelman/papers/hck_CAR.pdf. In Chukwuemeka, E. M. Exogenic factor and the futility of conflict resolution in Africa: The Darfur experience. African Journal of Political Science and International Relations, 6(2), 33-42.
- Kelman, H. C. (2005). Building trust among enemies: The central challenge for international conflict. International Journal of Intercultural Relations 29: 639–50. In: Beckerman, C. Political Fragility and the Timing of Conflict Mediation. Social Sciences, 11(2), 76.

- Ketokivi, M. and Choi, T. (2014). "Renaissance of case research as a scientific method", Journal of Operations Management, Vol. 32 No. 5, pp. 232-240. In Gammelgaard, B. (2017). The qualitative case study. The International Journal of Logistics Management.
- Khadiagala, G. (2008) 'Forty days and nights of peace making in Kenya'. Journal of African Elections 7(2): 4–32 pp 9, 305

Kriesberg, L. (2005). "Nature, Dynamics, and Phases of Intractability," in Crocker, p 348 C.A.,

Kvale, S. (1983), "The qualitative research interview: a phenomenological and a hermeneutical mode of understanding", Journal of Phenomenological Psychology, Vol. 14 No. 2, pp. 171-

196. In Gammelgaard, B. (2017). The qualitative case study. The International Journal of Logistics Management, p 911.

Kyeong-Hee K. (2012). Regional Leaderships in Latin American 'New' Regionalism: The Case of Venezuela and Mexico. Asian Journal of Latin American Studies 25 (3), 73-102 p 15 -

16. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective (Doctoral dissertation, Coventry University).

Lam, Peng E.R. (2008). Japan's Peace-Building in Mindanao: Partnering Malaysia, the Philippines and the Moro Islamic Liberation Front. Japanese Studies 28 (1): 45–57 p 125. In de Coning, C., Muto, A., & Saraiva, R. Adapting to Uncertainty: What Have We Learned from Mediation and Conflict Resolution

in Colombia, Mozambique, the Philippines, and Syria. Adaptive Mediation and Conflict Resolution, 165

Leslie, Emma. (2013). Widening the Table: Hybrid Support Groups in Conflict Mediation. World Politics Review, Feature Report: Getting to Peace: New Approaches to Ending Conflict, 9–

13. In de Coning, C., Muto, A., & Saraiva, R. Adapting to Uncertainty: What Have We Learned from Mediation and Conflict Resolution in Colombia, Mozambique, the Philippines, and Syria. Adaptive Mediation and Conflict Resolution, 165 p 126

- Lindberg, L. N., and Scheingold, S. A. (1970). Europe's Would-Be Polity. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, p 128. In: Underdal, A. Leadership theory. International Multilateral Negotiation–Approaches to the Management of Complexity.San Francisco, 178-197.
- Lindenmayer, E & Kaye, JL. (2009). A choice for peace? The story of forty-one days of mediation in Kenya, p10. International Peace Institute, New York.
- Luce, R.D. & Raiffa, H. (1957). Game and Decisions: Introduction and critical survey, John Wiley, New York, 13. In Agarwal, N. Negotiation decision support systems: Analysing negotiations under the conditions of risk. Journal of Business Systems, Governance and Ethics, 4(3).
- Maitre, B. R. (2009). "What Sustains 'Internal Wars'? The Dynamics of Violent Conflict and State Weakness in Sudan." Third World Quarterly 30, no. 1, 53-68, pp 14. In Brosché, J., & Duursma, A. Hurdles to peace: a level-of-analysis approach to resolving Sudan's civil wars. Third World Quarterly, 39(3), 560-

Mannheim, B. F., Rim, Y., & Grinberg, G. (1967). Instrumental Status of Supervisors as Related to Workers' Perceptions and Expectations. Human Relations, 20(4), 387–397. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/001872676702000405</u>. In Pizzolitto, E. The Misunderstanding of Outcome Monitoring: A Systematic Literature Review on Instrumental Leadership. ESI Preprints, 7, 1-1.

576.

- Mghanga, M. (2010). Usipoziba Ufa Utajenga Ukuta: Land, elections, and conflicts in Kenya's Coast Province. Nairobi: Heinrich Boll Foundation, pp 68. In Wamai, E. N. Mediating Kenya's post-election violence: from a peacemaking to a constitutional moment. Kenya: The Struggle for a New Constitutional Order, 66-78.
- Moore, Christopher W. (1996). The Mediation Process. Practical Strategies for Resolving Conflict. Second Edition. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers, 3
 - 8. In Hegertun, N. H.
 W. Faith-based Mediation? Sant'Egidio's peace efforts in Mozambique and Algeria.
- Mulki, J. P., Jaramillo, J. F., & Locander, W. B. (2008). Critical Role of Leadership on Ethical Climate and Salesperson Behaviours. Journal of Business Ethics, 86(2), 125–141. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-008-9839-4. In Pizzolitto, E. The Misunderstanding of Outcome Monitoring: A Systematic Literature

Review on Instrumental Leadership. ESI Preprints, 7, 1-1.

- Munroe, M. (2014). The Power of Character in Leadership: How values, Morals, Ethics, and Principles Affect Leaders p 13. New Kensington, PA: Whitaker House.
- Mutisi, M. (2011). Knowledge for durable peace; The Abunzi Mediation in Rwanda: Opportunities for Engaging with Traditional Institutions of Conflict Resolution, ISSUE # 012 October 2011
- Myerson, R. B. (1977). Graphs and Cooperation in Games, Mathematics of Operations Research, 2, 225–229. In Agarwal, N. Negotiation decision support systems: Analysing negotiations under the conditions of risk. Journal of Business Systems, Governance and Ethics, 4(3).
- Nash J.F. (1951). Non-cooperative games, Annals of Mathematics, 54, 286-295. In Agarwal, N. Negotiation decision support systems: Analysing negotiations under the conditions of risk. Journal of Business Systems, Governance and Ethics, 4(3).

Nathan, L. (2007). Mediation in African conflicts: The gap between mandate and capacity, p 13. Retrieved from
 https://www.africaportal.org/publications/mediation-in-african-conflicts-the-gap-between-mandate-and-capacity/ (accessed 10.06.2024)

- Nathan, L.(2012). Community of Insecurity: SADC's Struggle for Peace and Security in Southern Africa, Farnham: Ashgate, pp. 70-6, p 5. In Nathan, L.
 How and why African mediators compromise democracy. In Conference on the Ethics of Negotiation in Armed Conflicts, Pennsylvania, United States of America.
- Nathan, L. (2016). How and why African mediators compromise democracy. In Conference on the Ethics of Negotiation in Armed Conflicts p16, Pennsylvania, United States of America. Retrieved from <u>https://scholar.google.com/scholar?start=10&q=Mediation+Nathan+Laurie&h</u> <u>l=en&as_sd</u> t=0,5 (12.06.2024)
- Natsios, A. S. (2012). Sudan, South Sudan, and Darfur: What Everyone Needs to Know. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp 14. In Brosché, J., & Duursma,
 A. Hurdles to peace: a level- of-analysis approach to resolving Sudan's civil wars. Third World Quarterly, 39(3), 560- 576.
- Northouse, P. G. (2014). Introduction to Leadership: Concepts and Practice: Concepts and Practice: Thousand Oaks, Sage Publications, p 16. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Northouse, P. G. (2015). Leadership: Theory and Practice, 7th Edn. Thousand Oaks, Sage Publications, p 16. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.

- Northouse, P.G. (1997). Leadership: Theory and research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, p 16. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Nylund A. (2014). The many ways of civil mediation in Norway. In: Ervo L, Nylund A (eds) In the future of civil litigation. Access to court and courtannexed mediation in the Nordic countries.
- Okhogbe, A. J. (2022). An Assessment of Curle's Model in Kofi Annan Third Party Intervention in the Kenyan 2008 Post-Election Crisis. A Publication of Department of Peace Studies and Conflict Resolution Faculty of Social Sciences National Open University of Nigeria, 107. Retrieved from http://nijpcr.nou.edu.ng/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/COMPLETE-

NIJPCR-VOL-2-NO-2-August-2022.pdf#page=117 (accessed 10.07.2024)

- Pedrosa, A.M., Näslund, D. and Jasmand, C. (2012), "Logistics case study based research: towards higher quality", International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management, Vol. 42 No. 3, pp. 275-295. In Gammelgaard, B. (2017). The qualitative case study. The International Journal of Logistics Management, pg. 911.
- Pizzolitto, E. (2022). The Misunderstanding of Outcome Monitoring: A Systematic Literature Review on Instrumental Leadership. ESI Preprints, 7, 1-1. Retrieved from <u>https://esipreprints.org/index.php/esipreprints/article/view/6/3</u> (accessed 16.06.2024)

Politicarum, D. R. (2019). Instrumental Leadership and Organizational Change (Doctoral dissertation, TU Dortmund University). Retrieved from <u>https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C5&q=Instrumental+lea</u> <u>dership+th</u>

<u>eory%2C+critics&btnG</u>= (accessed 16.07.2024)

- Pronk, J. (2006). "Darfur Agreement is Severely Paralysed", Sudan Tribune, 1 July 2006, p 2. In Nathan, L. No ownership, no peace: the Darfur peace agreement. London: Crisis States Research Centre.
- Puchala, D.J. (1993). 'The secretary-general and his special representatives'. In: Rivlin, B. and Gordenker, L. (eds). The Challenging Role of the UN Secretary-General: Making "The Most Impossible Job in the World" Possible. Westport, Connecticut: Praeger, pp. 81-97. In Nathan, L. A Case of Undue Pressure. op cit. note, 6.
- Raiffa, H. (1982). The Art and Science of Negotiation. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, p 95. In Underdal, A. Leadership Theory: Rediscovering the Arts of Management. In International Multilateral Negotiation: Approaches to the Management of Complexity, Zartman, W. (Ed.) 178-197. San Francisco, Jossey-Bass Inc.
- Raiffa, H., Richardson, J. and Metcalfe, D. (2002). Negotiation Analysis: The science and art of collaborative decision making, Harvard University Press, Massachusetts, p 13. In Agarwal,

N. Negotiation decision support systems: Analysing negotiations under the

conditions of risk. Journal of Business Systems, Governance and Ethics, 4(3).

Robson, C. (1993). Real World Research: A Resource for Social Scientists and Practitioners- Researchers, Blackwell, Oxford.

Rohwerder, B. (2015). Conflict analysis of Kenya. Birmingham, UK: GSDRC, University of Birmingham. Retrieved from <u>https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C5&q=Analysis+of+the</u> <u>+Kenya+P</u> ost+election+conflict&btnG= (accessed 10.06.2024)

- SADC Electoral Observer Mission. (2008). 'Preliminary statement presented by the Hon. José Marcos Barrica on the Zimbabwe presidential runoff and House of Assembly by-elections held on 27 June 2008', Harare, 29 June, p 5. In Nathan, L. How and why African mediators compromise democracy. In Conference on the Ethics of Negotiation in Armed Conflicts, Pennsylvania, United States of America.
- Sandholtz, W., and Zysman, J. (1992). Recasting the European Bargain." World Politics, 1989,42,95-128. In Underdal, A. Leadership Theory: Rediscovering the Arts of Management. In International Multilateral Negotiation: Approaches to the Management of Complexity, Zartman, W. (Ed.) 178-197. San Francisco, Jossey-Bass Inc.
- Savun, B. (2009), "Mediators types and the effectiveness of information-provision strategies in the resolution of international conflict", in Bercovitch, J. and Gartner, S. (Eds), International Conflict Mediation: New Approaches and

Findings, Routledge, New York, NY. In Duursma, A. A current literature review of international mediation. International Journal of Conflict Management, 25(1), 81-98.

- Scott-Villers, P., Ondicho, T., Lubaale, G., Ndung'u, D., Kabala, N., & Oosterom, M. (2014). Roots and routes of political violence in Kenya's civil and political society: A case study of Marsabit county (IDS Evidence Report N. 71, Addressing and Mitigating Violence), p 12. Brighton: IDS. In Rohwerder, B. Conflict analysis of Kenya. Birmingham, UK: GSDRC, University of Birmingham.
- Security Council Report. (2009). Report of the Secretary-General on Enhancing Mediation and its Support Activities (S/2009/189). New York: United Nations. Available at <u>www.un.org/depts/dpa/</u> docs/S-2009-189.pdf. In: Giessmann, H. J., & Wils, O. Seeking

compromise?: mediation through the eyes of the conflict parties, p1.

- Shapley, L. S. (1953). A Value for n-Person Games. In H. W. Kuhn and A. W.
 Tucker (eds.), Contributions to the Theory of Games II (Annals of Mathematics Studies 28), Princeton University Press, 307–31. In Agarwal, N.
 Negotiation decision support systems: Analysing negotiations under the conditions of risk. Journal of Business Systems, Governance and Ethics, 4(3).
- Shapley, L. S. (1977). A Comparison of Power Indices and a Nonsymmetric Generalization, P- 5872, Rand Corporation, Santa Monica, p 13. In Agarwal, N. Negotiation decision support systems: Analysing negotiations under the

conditions of risk. Journal of Business Systems, Governance and Ethics, 4(3).

- Shapley, L. S. and Shubik, M. (1954). A Method for Evaluating the Distribution of Power in a Committee System, American Political Science Review, 48, 787– 792. In Agarwal, N. Negotiation decision support systems: Analysing negotiations under the conditions of risk. Journal of Business Systems, Governance and Ethics, 4(3).
- Sisk, T. D. (1997). Mediating Africa's Civil Conflicts. Out of Conflict: From War to Peace in Africa, 179. Retrieved from <u>https://scholar.google.com/scholar?start=30&q=Leadership+in+mediation+proc</u> <u>esses+in+</u> <u>Mozambique&hl=en&as_sdt=0,5</u> (accessed 31.12.2022)
- Sithole, T., & Asuelime, L. E. (2017). The role of the African Union in postelection violence in Kenya. African Journal of Governance and Development, 6(2), 98-122. Retrieved from <u>https://journals.co.za/doi/epdf/10.10520/EJCe5aca3f5e</u> (accessed 23.07.2024)
- Sjöstedt, G. (1999). Leadership in Multilateral Negotiations: Crisis or Transition? In International Negotiation, Berton, P., Kimura, H., and Zartman, I. W. (Eds.) 223-253. New York: St. Martin's Press. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.

- Slim, R. M. (1992). 'Small-state mediation in international relations: the Algerian mediation of the Iranian hostage crisis' in J. Bercovitch and J. Z. Rubin (eds), Mediation in International Relations: Multiple Approaches to Conflict Management, Houndmills, Hampshire & London: Macmillan, 1992, p.229. In Nathan, L. Mediation and the African Union's Panel of the Wise.
- Snidal, D. C. (1990). "IGOs, Regimes, and Cooperation: Challenges for International Relations Theory." In M. P. Karns and K. A. Mingst (eds.), The United States and Multilateral Institutions. Boston: Unwin Hyman. In Underdal, A. Leadership Theory: Rediscovering the Arts of Management. In International Multilateral Negotiation: Approaches to the Management of Complexity, Zartman, W. (Ed.) 178-197. San Francisco, Jossey-Bass Inc.
- Sorenson, G., Goethals, G. R., and MacGregor Burns, J. (2004). Encyclopaedia of Leadership. Sage, p 16. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Sorrentino, R. M., and Boutillier, R. G. (1975). "The Effect of Quantity and Quality of Verbal Interaction on Ratings of Leadership Ability." Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 1975, 1I, 403-411. In Underdal, A. Leadership Theory: Rediscovering the Arts of Management. In International Multilateral Negotiation: Approaches to the Management of Complexity, Zartman, W. (Ed.) 178-197, San Francisco, Jossey-Bass Inc.
- Sparks, A. (1995). Tomorrow is Another Country: The Inside Story of South Africa's Negotiated Revolution, London: Heinemann, p 4. In Nathan, L. No

ownership, no peace: the Darfur peace agreement. London: Crisis States Research Centre.

- Stedman, S.J. (1991). Peace-making in Civil War: International Mediation in Zimbabwe, 1974- 1980, Boulder, Colorado and London: Lynne Rienner, p 12. In Nathan, L. Mediation in African conflicts: The gap between mandate and capacity.
- Stogdill, R. M. (1974). Handbook of leadership: A survey of theory and research. New York: Free Press, p 16. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Svensson, I. (2007a). Bargaining, Bias and Peace Brokers: How Rebels Commit to Peace. Journal of Peace Research 44 (2):177–94, p 312. In Duursma, A. African solutions to African challenges: The role of legitimacy in mediating civil wars in Africa. International Organization, 74(2), 295-330.
- Tallberg, J. (2006). Leadership and Negotiation in the European Union: Cambridge University Press. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Tellis, W. (1997). Introduction to Case Study. The Qualitative Report, Volume 3, Number 2, July, p 5. (http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR3-2/tellis1.html). In Zainal, Z. Case study as a research method. Jurnal kemanusiaan, 5(1).

Tengku, A. G. (2017). Beyond the Peace Tables: Reflections on the GPHMILF

Peace Process. Ed. Ab Kabir Shahpur Tengku, Karen Simbulan, and Laurens Visser. Siem Reap, Cambodia: The Centre for Peace and Conflict Studies. In de Coning, C., Muto, A., & Saraiva, R. Adapting to Uncertainty: What Have We Learned from Mediation and Conflict Resolution in Colombia, Mozambique, the Philippines, and Syria. Adaptive Mediation and Conflict Resolution, 165 p125

- Toga, D. (2007). "The African Union Mediation and the Abuja Peace Talks." In War in Darfur and the Search for Peace, edited by A. De Waal, 214–244.
 London: Global Equity Initiative. In Duursma, A. He who pays the piper, calls the tune? Non-African involvement in Sudan's African-led mediation processes. Journal of Eastern African Studies, 13(3), 428-444.
- Touval, S. (1994). Why the UN fails. Foreign Affairs 73 (5): 44 57. In Nathan, L.
 'When push comes to shove': the failure of international mediation in African civil wars: occasional paper. Track Two: Constructive Approaches to Community and Political Conflict, 8(2).
- Touval, S. and Zartman, W. I. (2001). "International Mediation in the Post- Cold War Era," in C. Crocker et al., Turbulent Peace, Washington, DC: US Institute of Peace Press, p 136. In Nte,

T. U. Conflict Resolution Mechanisms and the Traits of Effective Mediation in Africa. International Journal of Peace and Conflict Studies, 5(2), 133-142.

Turner, C., & Heyworth, F. (2019). Advancing Inclusive Mediation Through the Lens of Leadership. Strategic Security Analysis, (4). Retrieved from <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3421536</u> (accessed 15.07.2024)

- UN Security Council. (2008). 'Security Council condemns violent campaign against political opposition in Zimbabwe; regrets failure to hold free, fair election, in Presidential Statement', press release, UN Doc. SC/9369, 23 June, p 5. In Nathan, L. How and why African mediators compromise democracy. In Conference on the Ethics of Negotiation in Armed Conflicts, Pennsylvania, United States of America.
- United Nations. (2012). United Nations Guidance for Effective Mediation, New York; Jacob Bercovitch, 2009, 'Mediation and conflict resolution', in Jacob Bercovitch, Victor Kremenyuk & I. William Zartman (eds.), The SAGE Handbook of Conflict Resolution (London: SAGE, pp 343–46; In Nathan, L. (2016, April). How and why African mediators compromise democracy. In Conference on the Ethics of Negotiation in Armed Conflicts, Pennsylvania, United States of America.
- Van De Vliert, E., Euwema, M.C., and Huismans, S.E. (1995), "Managing conflict with a subordinate or a superior: effectiveness of conglomerated behaviour", Journal of Applied Psychology, Vol. 80, No. 2, pp. 271-281, p 23. In Coleman, P. T., Kugler, K. G., Mazzaro, K., Gozzi, C., El Zokm, N., & Kressel, K. Putting the pieces together: a situated model of mediation. International Journal of Conflict Management.

- Vera, D. & Crossan, M. (2004). Strategic Leadership and Organizational Learning. Academy of Management Review 29 (2), 222. In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Vindeløv V. (2012). Reflexive mediation. With a sustainable perspective. JuristogØkonomforbundets Førlag, København: In: Anna Nylund, Kaijus Ervasti and Adrian Lin. 2018. Nordic Mediation Research, Spring Open
- William, Z (eds.). (2016). The SAGE Handbook of Conflict Resolution (London: SAGE, pp. 343– 46; In Nathan, L. How and why African mediators compromise democracy. In Conference on the Ethics of Negotiation in Armed Conflicts, Pennsylvania, United States of America.
- Williams, G.R. (1993), "Style and effectiveness in negotiation", Hall, L. (Ed.), Negotiation: Strategies for Mutual Gain: The Basic Seminar of the Harvard Program on Negotiation, Sage, Newbury Park, CA, p 23. In Coleman, P. T., Kugler, K. G., Mazzaro, K., Gozzi, C., El Zokm, N., & Kressel, K. Putting the pieces together: a situated model of mediation. International Journal of Conflict Management.
- Yin, R. (2003). Case study research, design and methods (3rd ed., vol. 5). Thousand Oaks: Sage. In Kohlbacher, F. The use of qualitative content analysis in case study research. In Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research (Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 1-30). Institut für Qualitative Forschung.

Yin, R. (2013), Case Study Research: Design and Methods, 5th ed., Sage

Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA, p 911. In Gammelgaard, B. The qualitative case study. The International Journal of Logistics Management.

- Yin, R., (1994). Case study research: Design and methods (2nd ed.). Beverly Hills,CA: Sage Publishing, p 5. In Zainal, Z. Case study as a research method.Jurnal kemanusiaan, 5(1).
- Young, O. R. (1991). "Political Leadership and Regime Formation: On the Development of Institutions in International Society." International Organization, ,45, 281-308 p 302. In: Underdal, A. Leadership theory. International Multilateral Negotiation–Approaches to the Management of Complexity.San Francisco, 178-197.
- Yukl, G. (1999). An Evaluation of Conceptual Weaknesses in Transformational and Charismatic Leadership Theories. The Leadership Quarterly 10 (2), 285-305.
 In Phiri, M. J. B. Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Yukl, G. A. and Becker, W. S. (2006). Effective Empowerment in Organizations.
 Organization Management Journal 3 (3), 210-231. In Phiri, M. J. B.
 Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation:
 African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.
- Yukl, G., Gordon, A. and Taber, T. (2002). A hierarchical taxonomy of leadership behaviour: Integrating a half century of behaviour research. Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies, 9 (1), 15-32. In Phiri, M. J. B.

Leadership, regionalisation of peace operations and conflict mediation: African Union and Southern African Development Community in perspective, Coventry University.

Zainal, Z. (2007). Case study as a research method. Jurnal kemanusiaan, 5(1).

- Zartman, I. W. (1994). International multilateral negotiation: approaches to the management of complexity I. William Zartman and associates. p. cm. (The Josser-Bass conflict resolution series)
- Zartman, I. W. (2003). Negotiating with Terrorists. International Negotiations 8: 443–50. In: Beckerman, C. Political Fragility and the Timing of Conflict Mediation. Social Sciences, 11(2), 76.
- Zartman, I.W. (1989). Ripe for resolution: conflict and Intervention in Africa, New York: Oxford University Press. In Chukwuemeka, E. M. Exogenic factor and the futility of conflict resolution in Africa: The Darfur experience. African Journal of Political Science and International Relations, 6(2), 33-42.

<https://www.commerce.gov/cr/reports-and-resources/eeo-mediation-guide/whatmediation> June 6, 2024.

<https://www.nysmediate.org/what-is-divorce-mediation-> June 6, 2024.

June 6, 2024">https://icermediation.org/mediating-ethnic-conflict/>June 6, 2024.

https://www.americanbar.org/news/abanews/publications/youraba/2019/may-2019/three-tips-to-best-tackle-mediation-of-faith-based-disputes/ June 6,2024.

<https://www3.gmu.edu/programs/icar/ijps/vol8_1/Bercovitch.html> June 6, 2024 .<https://belider.net/en/coercive-leadership-style/>, June 10, 2024. <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK470395/#:~:text=Qualitative%20research %20uses%20several%20techniques,that%20every%20participant%20is%20asked>, June 15, 2024.

<https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/0038022920970318?fbclid=IwAR3C VwEO-amDB9QlrbHmVWp99tlet5KXa7O8OS_0VsD0ygkTkmRhVXVzij0>,June 15, 2024.

<https://mediate.com/president-obamas-speech-offers-conflict-resolution-b wisdom/>, june 29, 2024.

<https://owjn.org/2022/09/06/ontarios-domestic-violence-court-program/>, June 29, 2024.

https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/2b1bf8de178943f39da0f91ccace79cc> July 7. 2024.

<https://www.beyondintractability.org/coreknowledge/internationalconflict#:~:text=The%20conflict%20between%20the%20U.S.,conflict%20between% 20India%20and%20Pakistan.> July 24, 2024.